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Mackay Sugar is Australia’s second largest sugar milling 
company, with over 140 years’ experience. We are a 
farmer-owned company and have three operating milling 
sites in Mackay – Farleigh, Marian and Racecourse, 
and one in far north Queensland – Mossman. Our 
main office is located at Racecourse Mill, Mackay.

Mackay Sugar was formed as a Co-operative 
in 1988, when five formerly independent 
milling Co-operatives (Marian, Racecourse, 
Cattle Creek, North Eton and Farleigh) 
merged and acquired Pleystowe Mill from 
CSR Limited� As part of the strategy for 
greater efficiency, the North Eton, Cattle 
Creek and Pleystowe mills were closed in 
1988, 1990 and 2009 respectively and their 
operations integrated into the remaining mills� 

With an appetite to maximise our business 
opportunities, shareholders voted in favour 
of converting Mackay Sugar Limited to an 
unlisted public company in July 2008� As at 
31 May 2017, we had 1012 growers (2016: 1025) 
supplying cane to our mills and 1062 (2016: 
1055) shareholders holding investment shares�

Our revenue base includes raw and refined 
sugar, molasses and electricity (made from 
the sugar by-product – bagasse)� From 
the sugar manufacturing process, we also 
produce mill mud and ash, which is distributed 
to our growers and applied to their cane 
paddocks as a beneficial soil conditioner� 

We hold a 25 per cent interest in the Sugar 
Australia Joint Venture (SAJV), comprising 
Sugar Australia and New Zealand Sugar 
Company� Wilmar Sugar holds the remaining 
75 per cent stake in these refining businesses� 
Products from the joint venture’s three 
refineries, located at Mackay’s Racecourse 
Mill, Yarraville in Victoria and Auckland, are 
marketed by Sugar Australia Pty Limited 
and New Zealand Sugar Company� 

As at 31 May 2017, we employed 908 people 
in a variety of roles across our operations� 
This includes planning, procurement, 
information technology, human resources, 
accounting, administrative, trade, technical 
and processing roles� Approximately 335 
people are employed on a seasonal basis 
to assist permanent staff with our crushing 
season (May to November) operations� 
During the 2016 crushing season our total 
workforce was approximately 927� 
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For the Year Ended  
31 May 2017

31 May 2017 31 May 2016 31 May 2015 31 May 2014 31 May 2013

Production

Tonnes cane milled  6,862,864 6,191,429 6,668,039 5,648,839 6,125,002

Tonnes sugar produced (IPS)  856,127 863,434 923,242 824,631 888,491

Tonnes of molasses  239,716 211,922 216,046 180,359 184,767

MSL total average sugar price  $487�48 $409�92 $438�76 $410�70 $441�01

Financial ($’000)

Operating revenue  498,833 432,904 475,165 430,110 406,689

Gross profit  217,847 200,652 208,380 179,859 181,856

Net interest expense  13,014 14,921 12,848 11,830 8,078

Net profit after tax  (33,414) (26,063) (11,391) 5,164 16,311

Net operating cash flow  43,644 (10,914) 33,534 31,437 16,390

Total Assets  522,409 553,531 557,796 554,175 562,683

Total liabilities  306,130 331,188 290,076 280,594 283,702

Net assets/Total equity  216,279 222,343 267,720 273,581 278,981

Capital expenditure  22,760 28,577 28,042 31,155 54,540

People

Total employees 908 927 909 781 739

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY  
(OPERATIONAL, FINANCIAL AND PEOPLE STATISTICS)

Performance  
Summary
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Chairman’s  
Review

Operating revenue increased to $499 million in 
the 2016/17 financial year (2015/16 $433 million), 
and the crop increased from 6.2 million tonnes in 
2015 to 6.8 million tonnes in the reporting year.

The net loss before tax for the year ending 31 May 2017 
was $33.4 million. This is an increase of $7.4 million 
on the loss recorded in the 2016 financial year. The 
underlying loss for the year (after removing the impact 
of one off events) was $1.4 million compared with $12.4 
million in the previous year. One off events were the costs 
incurred in the current year as a result of the Marian 
No 1 boiler incident, the 5MW alternator incident and 
the impairment of the Sugar Australia investment. 

The Directors determined that the Accounting Standards 
required that the carrying value of the Sugar Australia 
assets be tested. This was driven by the declining profits and 
cash flows for Sugar Australia and a detailed impairment 
assessment was completed. The amount of $34.6m was 
required to be treated as a loss for the year in the Profit and 
Loss account. The write down of investments was a book 
entry only and had no effect on the cash flow of the Company. 

Net debt reduced during the financial year 
by $24.5 million to $188 million. 

Andrew Cappello 
Chairman
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OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The 2016 reporting year was a difficult year for Mackay Sugar� Mill 
operational outcomes were significantly less than targeted, wet 
weather compounded the challenges faced and significant equipment 
failures extended the crushing season through to January 2017� The 
boiler explosion at Marian mill severely hampered the commencement 
of crushing operations and significantly reduced the availability 
at Marian for a number of weeks� A crop of 5�6 million tonnes 
was crushed in Mackay from a reduced area of 63,083 hectares 
compared to 69,120 hectares in 2015� The results at Mossman mill 
were a slight improvement on the 2016 season, with 1�3 million 
tonnes crushed including 413,838 tonnes toll crushed at Arriga mill� 

The 2016 crushing season performance is not acceptable 
and the Board and Management will continue to focus on 
improving the reliability and availability of mills�

GROWER CHOICE LEGISLATION
It has been a tumultuous year in the Australian sugar industry where 
after political intervention, the Federal Government legislated the 
Sugar Industry Code of Conduct in April 2017 for the supply of cane 
or the onsupply of sugar� It was also to ensure that supply contracts 
between growers and mill owners have the effect of guaranteeing 
a grower’s choice of the marketing entity for the grower economic 
interest sugar manufactured from the cane the grower supplies� 
The Code of Conduct does not impact to any significant extent in 
the Mackay region compared to growers in other sugar regions� 

Mackay Sugar also continues to negotiate with the bargaining 
representatives over the long term changes to the Cane Supply and 
Processing Agreements required to give effect to the grower choice 
changes introduced into the Sugar Industry Act 1999� In addition to 
Canegrowers and ACFA, who have acted as bargaining representatives 
for the vast majority of growers for many years, a number of growers 
have now advised Mackay Sugar that they wish to nominate alternative 
bargaining representatives� We have also commenced separate 
discussions with those other bargaining representatives around 
grower choice and the consequent changes to their Cane Supply 
and Processing Agreements� The Company will continue to work 
with all of the bargaining representatives on this complex area� 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company is facing a significant financial challenge to fund 
capital and maintenance projects and to reduce debt to a sustainable 
amount ensuring manageable levels of interest payments, 
debt repayment and the ability to manage any contingency 
arising from weather, poor crops or reduced sugar prices� 

The Board appointed Corporate Advisor, Kidder Williams in August 
2016 to review the Company’s strategic funding initiatives and to assist 
the Board and senior management to formulate a range of funding 
options for the Company to consider in conjunction with shareholders� 
Kidder Williams reported back to shareholders in February 2017 on 
the outcomes of their review and the Board subsequently endorsed 
the majority of the Kidder Williams recommendations� The Board’s 
plan is to investigate in the first instance the sale of the cogeneration 
plant and other assets, implement a $2 per tonne grower contribution 
towards the operating costs, repair, improvement and maintenance 
of Mackay Sugar’s infrastructure and drive further cost reductions and 
revenue enhancements in operations, cane supply and administration�

The plan is being progressed and Kidder Williams has sought 
expressions of interest for the sale of the cogeneration plant and 
Mossman mill� The Board will assess all offers for these assets and 
advise the shareholders their recommendation for the way forward�

If an acceptable price for the cogeneration asset sale is not 
achievable, or the $2 grower contribution is not able to be collected, 
the Board will need to consider other options which could include 
a corner stone investor or sale options for the Company�

I emphasised at the initial Information Meeting and at the subsequent 
round of shed meetings that, to ensure the long term viability 
of the Company, it was critical to reduce debt and provide more 
funding for capital expenditure for mills, rail and cane transport 
infrastructure� There must be significant changes to the way we 
operate the business across the whole supply chain and this 
includes a focus on reducing costs, improving mill performance, 
upskilling of our employees and enhanced productivity�

THE GLOBAL SUGAR OUTLOOK
The war on sugar continues to impact not only on the 
global demand for sugar but also local demand as 
evidenced by the issues facing Sugar Australia� 

Market Analysts have confirmed that consumption may grow at 
its slowest pace in seven years and is stagnating in developed 
countries� The demand from food and beverage makers is also 
weaker and there could be a fundamental shift in global consumption� 
At least 17 countries have added an additional tax on sweetened 
beverages and other nations are considering a similar levy�

After two years of deficit production the market 
is headed for a surplus in 2017/2018�

Analysts also report that high-income countries like Norway and 
Canada are already seeing a decline in sugar consumption and the 
appetites of developing markets, whose rapid population growth 
was expected to drive future growth, also appear to be waning�

Sugar sales in India, the world’s biggest consumer, are set to fall by 
roughly one million tonnes this season, the Indian Sugar Mills Association 
(ISMA) estimates, due to higher domestic prices and a cash crunch 
that followed last year’s demonetisation of high-value bank notes� 
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ISMA expects consumption to rebound next year as production 
in the country normalises and domestic prices come down, but 
analysts say long-term growth remains uncertain as the government 
considers higher taxes and stricter labeling on sugary foods� 

Sugar demand also seems to be stagnating in China, the 
second biggest consuming country, as cheaper sweeteners 
like high-fructose corn syrup grow in popularity�

The US Department of Agriculture last month highlighted the 
decline in Chinese sugar demand when it slashed its estimates 
for consumption in that country for 2016/17 by roughly 10 percent 
and signaled more modest growth than previously expected�

BOARD AND EXECUTIVE CHANGES
During the year under review, Non-Grower Director, Mark Sage 
resigned from the Board of Mackay Sugar due to family reasons� 
Mark was subsequently appointed as an Independent Director 
of Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd� In addition, Grower 
Director Sydney Gordon also resigned his position� Sydney had 
been a Director since November 2003 and on behalf of the Board 
I thank him for his significant contribution to the Board�

Two new Non-Grower Directors, Richard Findlay and Mark 
Day were appointed in April and May 2017 respectively 
and I welcome them both to the Board�

Peter Gill moved to the position of General Manager Commercial 
and Legal and David Said was appointed Chief Financial Officer 
in January 2017� David has worked for Mackay Sugar for twenty-
five years and I welcome him to the Executive Team�

The year ahead
The Board will continue to progress the plan presented to shareholders 
at the Information Meeting and shed meetings held earlier this year 
to ensure the long term viability of the Company� There are significant 
changes required across the business to ensure our growers, 
shareholders and bankers have confidence in the future of the Company�

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
I would like to thank my fellow Directors, our shareholders, growers, 
the Executive Team, employees and the Bargaining Agents for their 
support of the Company throughout the past financial year�
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A significant turnaround in the world sugar market for the 
2016 season has contributed to the financial performance 
of the Company, while continuous weather delays 
coupled with poor factory availability have hampered 
production. The Company continues to work towards 
realisation of its strategic plan by securing necessary 
funding for asset improvements through work with its 
external advisors. Additionally we are continuing the 
implementation of the Mackay Sugar Production System 
(MSPS), which is the basis for improving the people and 
processes impact on rate, recovery and reliability.

Chief Executive’s 
Review

Jason Lowry 
Chief Executive Officer
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Financially the Company realised a positive result in year ending 
31 May 2017 (YEM17) with significant cash generation from operations 
($43�6 million) allowing for a significant reduction in net debt of 
$24�5 million and an underlying operating loss of $1�4 million for the 
company� Unfortunately a write down in the carrying value of assets 
of the Sugar Australia business significantly impacted the financials, 
along with processing delays due to mechanical issues in the mills 
as well as wet weather delays and associated complications�

In Far North Queensland, the Mossman mill had a successful crushing 
season as the capital investments in recent years resulted in improved 
performance� In fact, the mill achieved the best milling performance 
by Mossman mill in over a decade� The tolling arrangement on the 
Tablelands worked well for both parties, and the 2017 and 2018 
seasons remains for the current arrangement� The Company also 
has a further option to extend the agreement for up to another two 
seasons after that� The dates for provision of notice to terminate the 
cane supply agreement on the Tablelands passed with no substantial 
loss of cane area as a result of a strong relationship with the growers 
in that region and the pleasing results of the processing season� 

The increase in crop size and extension of the season in Mackay due 
to wet weather and mechanical difficulties resulted in the season 
continuing into January� The Mackay mills ceased processing of 
cane following weeks of negative financial results and an agreement 
with the bargaining representatives in Mackay� Cyclone Debbie 
arrived late in the cyclone season, impacting on the year’s financial 
results and maintenance plans and is expected to have an impact 
on the coming season through reduced yield and sugar content�

The 2016 season looked promising with above average cane tonnage 
expected with an acceptable sugar price for the Mackay region� 
Prior to the commencement of crushing, an explosion inside of the 
newly re-tubed Boiler No� 1 at Marian upset the mills maintenance 
schedules and delayed the commencement of crushing operations� 
This single incident and resulting downtime was estimated to have 
extended the season by ten days due to the time required to make 
the boiler operational� An industry working group has been formed 
by the sugar mills insurance group with Mackay Sugar staff leading 
the effort to identify and control the risks that contributed to the 
No 1 boiler explosion (and other boiler incidents in the industry)� 

An ongoing issue throughout the season was the wet weather events, 
which had a myriad of effects on the Company� Firstly, the expected 
sugar content for the season was reduced as the sugarcane absorbed 
additional water� This reduction in CCS had a significant impact on the 
revenues for the Company, as well as impacting the ability of the mills 
to process the cane� Secondly, there was substantial downtime to the 
mills as a result of the rain-delayed harvesting across the growing 
region� Twenty-five days of lost time resulted from multiple rain events 
throughout the season which restricted the ability to harvest� Additionally, 
the crop grew as a result of the rainfall, adding to our expected crop 
by over 600,000 tonnes during the year� The Company continued 
to accept cane until the first week in January, attempting to remove 
as much of the crop as possible� As the sugar content dropped the 
continued processing was not financially viable� The season was finally 
concluded on 5 January 2017, with an estimated 461,000 tonnes left 

unharvested in the field� Mackay Sugar processed 5�6Mt of cane across 
our three Mackay mills, with 697,383 tonnes IPS sugar produced� 

Mossman mill had an improved processing season, and combined with 
sugarcane tolled through Arriga mill there was a total of 1,312,230 tonnes 
of cane processed on behalf of Mackay Sugar in the Far North� Mossman 
mill processed 898,392 tonnes of cane over the 23 week 2016 season 
while Arriga mill processed an additional 413,838 tonnes over 27 weeks� 

All three Mackay mills experienced issues throughout the season that 
reduced the availability and recovery from budgeted figures� The 
operational losses in processing and recovery experienced in the 2016 
season are a stark reminder of the need for investment in our mills and 
our people� The Company is focused on improving our performance 
in rate, recovery and reliability through targeted investment in assets 
as well as continued development, training and motivation of our 
people� Kidder Williams has been retained to assist with the approach 
required to realise the funds needed for the asset improvements 
required due to a prolonged period of under-investment in the core 
equipment� This process has been reported on throughout the year, 
and is currently progressing with the consideration of possible asset 
sales and work around the refinancing of the existing debt facilities� 
Of special note, work has progressed during YEM17 to explore the 
possibility of either a Joint Venture or outright sale of the Mossman 
milling assets to the growers supplying the mill� This work will continue 
into the next financial year to determine a fair value for the assets�

Significant progress in the people area has improved through the training 
and resources available to the operators over the last year� The Business 
Improvement team has worked closely with factory management at 
all sites, but particularly Marian, to develop and deliver a competency 
based training program through which the operators of the sugar mills 
will improve their knowledge and prove competency in the theoretical 
and practical operations, as well as through hands-on assessments� 
This material has been developed by staff working directly with the 
operators to ensure that the information is both theoretically correct 
as well as practically useful� Further, systems have been developed to 
ensure that the financial implications of the decisions are used when 
weighing up decision making options throughout the operation� Used 
in conjunction with the eLogs (a tracking and accountability tool) the 
Key Performance Indicators as determined by factory management 
and financial analysis will assist the operators with information when 
making day to day decisions that affect throughput and performance�

A pilot program in Marian has funded the installation of a Central 
Control Room, which will host many of the operators that were 
previously remotely stationed and therefore isolated from one another� 
The Central Control Room concept places the operators in close 
physical proximity, allowing them to utilise each other’s skills and 
abilities when tackling problems previously addressed as individuals� 
The concept will be tested this coming year, and we expect to see 
greater collaboration and facilitation of problem solving as well as 
improved operational efficiencies as a result of this initiative� 

Safety remains the focus at Mackay Sugar, and throughout the 2016 
season we have improved our performance� The Company has again 
reduced its Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR), which again places 
us near the top of the industry� As alluded to in last year’s Annual 
Report, we have also moved the goal posts in terms of assessing 
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safety performance� Over the last year we have placed a stronger 
focus on the Total Recordable Injuries Frequency Rate, or TRIFR, with 
respect to calculation of our Safety Index� By changing the focus to 
TRIFR, we have moved further up the injury chain, focussing on those 
recordable injuries that will lead to Lost Time Injuries if left unchecked� 
This change coupled with good hazard reporting and a strong reporting 
culture should assist in seeking to address the root causes of injuries 
and reduce the potential for serious injury if left unchecked�

As in previous years there is a strong focus within the management of the 
Company to improve the financial position� Management is focussed on 
reducing expenses and enhancing revenues where possible, although 
previous years of cost cutting have already significantly curtailed 
spending� The decision was taken this year to address the largest 
expense of the Company, being the cost of cane� A $2/tonne grower 
contribution was agreed in late May and early June which will be used to 
address the expenses of the business and allow the Company to return to 
a more stable cash flow position� The vast majority of growers are covered 
by an agreement which Mackay Sugar reached with the bargaining 
representatives - CANEGROWERS and ACFA� This agreement resulted in 
the $2 per tonne contribution being treated as a deferred cane payment 
to recognise their growers’ contribution to the financial stability of the 
Company� There are a number of mechanisms built into that agreement 
for the possible repayment of the deferred cane pay at a future time�

For the minority of growers who had advised they would be acting 
as their own bargaining representatives and did not agree to the 
deferred cane payments, the Company determined to treat this grower 
contribution as an expense in accordance with the provisions of the 
current Cane Supply and Processing Agreement� We appreciate the 
support of those growers who can see the benefits of a financially 
healthy milling entity to process their cane for years to come� 
At the time of writing a Supreme Court challenge to the grower 
contributions has been filed on behalf of three growers and we expect 
the outcome from that legal action to be known later in 2017�

Mackay Sugar started the year with a reduced capital budget due 
to financial constraints on the Company� As the season progressed 
it became apparent that the need was much stronger for additional 
maintenance funding, as the season was extended with the wet 
weather and processing complications described above� Several 
capital projects that were originally approved for YEM17 were deferred 
and the funding transferred to meet operational and maintenance 
requirements to process the cane for the extended season� 

A significant improvement was needed at Racecourse mill for 
throughput of the evaporator station, and the replacement of the 5 east 
calandria was the largest capital project aside from insurance related 
claims� It is expected that this will improve throughput at Racecourse 
in the coming year� There is more to do and as capital becomes 
available we will continue with the asset refurbishment program�

The Racecourse Cogeneration Plant continues to diversify the financial 
returns for the Company with another solid performance in YEM17 in 
spite of operational upsets hampering results� The crop size certainly 
increases the available bagasse for electricity generation in the 
offseason, but to a large degree this was offset by significant wet 
weather and mechanical downtime in the mills� Also, the last 25,000 
tonnes of bagasse on the Racecourse pad was rendered unusable 

in 2017 following Cyclone Debbie� The potential sale of cogeneration 
assets is under consideration as a means to pay down debt and raise 
capital to fund the needs of the core business� The sale of these assets 
is not being taken lightly, and the strong preference would be to retain 
those assets, however the crop required to realise the financial returns 
modelled in the original project have not materialised� Depending 
on the outcome of the tendering process, it may be that the assets 
can be sold to raise part of the capital requirements for the future� 
A final decision will be made following a robust evaluation process, 
analysis of options, and further deliberation in the coming year� 

Looking forward
Mackay Sugar has made significant changes to address the operational 
costs incurred in the business in recent years, and good progress 
has been made this year to shore up future performance in the 
operational and people side of the business� Mill performance remains 
inadequate and is being addressed as part of the overall strategy for 
the business along with seeking to increase cane supply� Improving 
both are critical to the success of the business� Further work and 
decisions will be made in the coming year to seek to fund the capital 
changes required to address the losses through rate, reliability and 
recovery attributed to equipment� The Company continues to work 
towards an operational model where the three mills in the Mackay 
region crush an average crop of 5�8Mt of sugarcane to meet the cash 
needs of the business to ensure a sustainable business going forward� 
Mackay Sugar looks forward to the necessary improvements to come 
in the near future as a result of working collaboratively with our 
growers, owners, and employees to ensure a sustainable business�

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
I would like to thank the Chairman, the Board of Directors, the 
Executive Team, employees, and our grower and harvester community 
for their efforts and accomplishments throughout the year� 
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Financial  
Snapshot

The year has delivered a cash surplus of $43.6 million from operating 
activities, a $24.5 million reduction in net debt and an underlying operating 
loss of $1.4 million for the Company. This follows unfavourable weather 
during the 2016 crushing period and lower than budgeted factory availability 
resulting in an extended crushing season and stand over cane. The financial 
results are largely driven by an increase in sugar revenue due to higher 
raw sugar prices offset by low PRS/CCS levels, below average factory 
recoveries, and increased operating costs as a result of the extended 
crushing period. The underlying operating loss of $1.4 million excludes 
the loss on impairment of the Sugar Australia investment of $34.6 million 
and a net gain on the Marian mill insurable events of $2.6 million. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS
The financial accounts presented in the concise report are the 
consolidated financial accounts of Mackay Sugar Limited� Mackay Sugar 
has two wholly owned active subsidiaries – Queensland Commodity 
Services Pty Ltd (QCS) and Mackay Commodity Services Pty Ltd (MCS) 
which are required to be included in the financial statements presented 
by Mackay Sugar� The discussion of the financial statements set out 
below is in relation to the consolidated financial accounts and therefore 
includes the financial operations of Mackay Sugar, QCS and MCS�

SIGNIFICANT ITEMS DURING THE YEAR WHICH 
AFFECTED THE FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS

IMPAIRMENT OF THE SUGAR AUSTRALIA INVESTMENT
Due to reductions in volumes and margins from the oversupply in the 
domestic refined sugar market, as well as increased energy costs which have 
had a material impact on profitability, the Directors determined to impair 
(revalue) the Sugar Australia investment which resulted in a reduction in the 
value of the ‘Investments accounted for using the equity method’ of $34�6 
million� This amount was required to be treated as a loss in the statement 
of profit or loss for the year� This write-down of equity investment assets 
has no effect on the cash flow of the Company and can be reversed if the 
projected underlying profitability of the business returns to previous levels�

MARIAN MILL INSURABLE EVENTS
The Company incurred significant costs and received insurance 
payments during the year as a result of major incidents with the Marian 
No� 1 boiler and the 5MW turbine alternator� As the majority of the 
expenditure to replace the damaged components in these assets was 
required to be capitalised, a net gain of $2�6 million was realised in 
the statement of profit or loss during the year� This amount was made 
up of insurance proceeds of $8�7 million less repairs and write-offs 
of the damaged assets totalling $6�1 million� Capitalised expenditure 
during the year to replace damaged components totalled $10�9 million� 

This was funded by insurance proceeds and is included in property, 
plant and equipment in the statement of financial position�

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
The net loss before income tax for the year ended 31 May 2017 was 
$33�4 million; which represents an increase of $7�4 million on the 
$26�1 million loss in the 2016 financial year� As previously stated, the 
reported loss includes the loss on impairment of the Sugar Australia 
investment of $34�6 million, and a net gain on the Marian mill insurable 
events of $2�6 million� Excluding these items, the underlying operating 
results for the Company would have been a loss of $1�4 million�

The crop for the 2017 financial year (2016 season) of 6�863 million tonnes 
(Mt) was up by 10�8 per cent on the 2015 season crop (6�191Mt)� The increase 
in cane tonnages was offset by a decrease in the sugar content in the crop, 
which resulted in an overall 0�8 per cent decrease in sugar production� 
The average sugar price for the financial year was $487�48 per tonne IPS 
sugar compared with the 2015 season price of $409�92/t IPS sugar� The 
combination of the decreased sugar production and the $77�56/t increase in 
the sugar price resulted in an increase of $63�7 million in total sugar revenue�

Molasses production for the 2016 season increased by 13�1 per cent as 
a result of the higher crop tonnage and a 3�2 per cent increase in the 
molasses yield compared to the 2015 season� The molasses price for the 
2016 season increased by 2�5 per cent� The net effect was an increase 
in molasses revenue of $4�2 million compared to the previous year�

Electricity sales increased by 7�2 per cent on the previous financial year 
to $27�0 million� This was primarily due to an increase in export sales due 
to higher bagasse quantities as a result of the larger crop� Other revenue 
decreased by $4�1 million mainly due to the receipt of less insurance 
proceeds compared to the previous financial year of $4�2 million� The net 
effect of the combined revenue items resulted in an increase in gross profit 
of $17�2 million or 8�6 per cent when compared to the 2016 financial year�

Maintenance expenses for the 2017 financial year were $48�4 million 
compared to $45�8 million incurred in the previous financial year� The 
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$2�6 million increase in expenditure was primarily due to additional 
boiler repairs at Marian mill and increased overtime and subcontracting 
costs due to the shortened maintenance period following the 
extended 2016 crushing season� Operating expenses were $90�8 
million compared to $80�8 million incurred in the previous year� 

The $10�0 million increase in this expenditure was mainly due 
to the larger crop and extended season length in the Mackay 
region� Administration expenses, which includes all operational 
staff salaries, remained relatively stable at $44�5 million�

Distribution and marketing expenses increased by $0�2 million to $6�5 
million compared to the previous financial year� The increase was 
mainly due to an increase in legal and consulting costs associated 
with sugar supply contracts and the growers’ choice legislation�

The profit from equity accounted investments of $7�9 million represents the 
Company’s share of profit in the Sugar Australia and New Zealand Sugar 
refinery investments� This is a decrease of $2�6 million compared to the 
previous year as a result of tighter sales margins and reduced volumes 
due to continuing pressure on the refined sugar market in Australia�

Net finance costs decreased by $1�9 million on the previous year as a result 
of decreased funding requirements and a reduction in interest hedging costs 
due to the expiry of interest rate swaps at the end of the 2016 financial year�

Depreciation increased by $0�6 million to $17�0 million for the 2017 financial 
year� This result was mainly attributable to the increased cane tonnages 
processed through the mills, partially offset by a reduction in the asset 
base due to the revaluation of Mossman assets in the previous year�

Other expenses increased by $1�3 million on the previous 
year to $4�1 million� The increase was mainly due to further 
write-offs on Marian No� 1 Boiler assets as a result of the 
overheating incident which occurred in the previous year�

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Total equity decreased by $6�1 million on the previous year to $216�3 
million as at 31 May 2017� This was due to the loss for the year of $33�4 
million offset by an increase in reserves of $27�4 million� The reserve 
movements reflect an increase in the hedge reserve of $26�6 million, an 
increase in the foreign currency translation reserve of $0�4 million, and 
an increase in the financial asset revaluation reserve of $0�3 million�

The hedge reserve of $12�9 million reflects the mark-to-market surplus in 
the value of the Group’s hedging positions as at the year-end date� It is a 
requirement that the sugar pricing, diesel fuel pricing, foreign exchange 
contracts, and interest rate hedging contracts be revalued to reflect their 
market value and the revaluation amount taken up in the year end accounts� 

The foreign currency translation reserve reflects the effect of the movement 
in exchange rates on the value of our investments in foreign associated 
companies (New Zealand Sugar Company and Oriana Shipping Company)�

Net debt decreased by $24�5 million to $188�1 million, primarily due 
to reduced seasonal and margin loan funding being required at 31 
May 2017 compared to 31 May 2016, and an improvement in the 
operating cash flows throughout the year� The net debt is comprised 
of bank term loans of $105�0 million, bank seasonal loans of $5�0 
million, finance lease liabilities of $1�3 million, fixed-rate medium-term 

unsecured notes (bonds) of $50�0 million, interest bearing deposits of 
$0�3 million, selected-term unsecured notes of $17�9 million and the STL 
subscription liability of $26�9 million, offset by cash of $18�3 million�

Receivables increased by $4�5 million to $34�1 million, mainly due 
to seasonal timing factors associated with the sugar, molasses and 
electricity revenue receivables� Payables increased by $28�7 million 
to $62�8 million, primarily due to the timing of cane payments�

The long term bank loans with Rabobank and National Australia Bank of 
$105�0 million and the FIIG Securities Bond debt of $50�0 million, included 
in interest bearing liabilities, were transferred from non-current to current 
liabilities at 31 May 2017 as these loans are due to expire on 2 March 2018 
and 5 April 2018 respectively� Initial discussions have commenced with 
financiers towards the renewal of these long term financing facilities and, 
as per normal business practice, detailed negotiations will be held closer to 
the time of renewal� It is expected that facilities will be able to be renewed 
with similar arrangements to those currently in place, subject to the Group’s 
requirements following any asset sales and potential debt reduction�

The Group’s current ratio (measured as current assets to current 
liabilities) being a measure of the Group’s ability to pay short term 
and long term obligations is 0�32 compared to 0�68 last year� The 
decline in this ratio demonstrates the liquidity risk and the financial 
dependency on the renewal of the Group’s funding facilities� 

The Group’s gearing ratio (measured as net debt to net debt 
plus equity) has shown an improvement from 0�49 to 0�47 as a 
result of reducing overall debt� The Directors continue to focus 
on strategies that will reduce debt and improve this ratio� 

The debt to equity ratio (measured as total liabilities to shareholders equity) 
which demonstrates how much external parties have contributed to the 
funding of the Company, while still high, has improved to 1�42 from 1�49� 

These ratios highlight the need for the Group to be consistently 
profitable as well as the need to implement strategies that will introduce 
capital or generate sufficient cash flow to manage the current levels 
of debt and support the required level of milling performance�

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The net cash flow from operating activities improved by $54�6 million to a 
cash surplus for the year of $43�6 million� This was mainly due to the increase 
in sugar sales as a result of the higher sugar price, and the timing of sugar 
sales and cane payments� Capital expenditure decreased by $5�8 million to 
$22�8 million� This includes $10�9 million on the Marian No�1 boiler and the 
5MW turbine alternator, with the balance being stay-in-business capital� The 
Sugar Australia Joint Venture returned $3�6 million in cash during the year�

Movements from financing activities were a combination of the following: 

 — repayment of borrowings of $30�1 million;
 — lease liability payments of $0�3 million;
 — a decrease in loans to growers of $0�8 million; and 
 — a decrease in selected-term unsecured notes of $9�1 million�

As a result of the above cash movements, cash on hand 
decreased by $14�2 million to $18�3 million�
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Cane  
Supply

Mackay
The year ended with another pleasing performance for the Cane 
Supply operations both in terms of health, safety and environment and 
operational performance� Two of the three Cane Supply departments 
celebrated being two and three years lost time injury free� Major 
operational difficulties were overcome at the start of the crushing 
season with substantial tonnages of cane requiring transfer out of 
the Marian mill area into the Farleigh and Racecourse areas due to 
the impact of the No� 1 boiler failure on production levels at Marian 
for the first six weeks of crushing operations� Service levels in terms 
of continuous cane supply to the factories and on-time deliveries 
of bins to our growers were maintained despite the operational 
difficulties and were not impacted by the efficiency initiative of 
improved spread of harvest hours and reduced day-shift loco runs� 

Among the many critical risks that are managed in cane rail operations, 
train separation is arguably one of the most crucial� Further progress 
was made in improving on stretch targets for forward clearance 
alarms� A continued trend of improvements demonstrates a sustained 
risk management process where daily practices have become 
embedded� The chart below illustrates the long-term trends for both 
the daily non-intruding and intruding alarms over the last six years� 
Our operations centre team is commended for their concerted effort 
in managing train separation risks� Another testimony to long-term 
improvements in risk management comes from the achievement of 
three years of lost time injury free by our Rolling Stock department� 
The result was celebrated through our formal Reward and 
Recognition Program� Similarly the Rail Infrastructure department 
celebrated achieving two years of lost time injury free operations�

Cane Transport operations faced the challenge of delivering on service 
level targets with a new operating strategy in place to reduce costs 
and improve efficiencies� The alignment between our harvest and 
crushing operations is not ideal with harvesting carried out over a 
12-hour period, concentrated between 7am and 4pm, and factories 
crushing over 24 hours� The differential is taken up through the 
transport system through buffer storage of cane in bins and double 
handling of bins between empty/full cycles� For the 2016 crushing 
season the typical daily crush was approximately 31,300 tonnes 
compared to the total bin storage capacity of 44,800 tonnes� The 
effective bin utilisation rate or bin turn ratio was therefore 0�7� 

An initiative was rolled out to improve the spread of harvest hours 
to allow for a reduction of one day shift loco run at each of the three 
Mackay area mill sites� This was achieved through identifying loco runs 
where harvest groups could be extended to a 6pm finish and delivery 
and collection schedules were amended accordingly� The initiative 
delivered an ongoing annual crew cost saving of over $480,000 and 
once-off rolling stock cash flow savings of over $500,000� The target for 
on-time deliveries of 82% was achieved with these changes in place and 
with substantial tonnages of cane transferred out of the Marian area� 

A further concern with this change was the transport system’s ability 
to maintain continuous supply to the factories� The target for outside 
stops (excluding wet weather) was an aggregate of five hours per 
week across the three mills� The average for the season was 4�6 
hours per week which was up slightly on the previous year but 
satisfactory considering the reduced resources and difficult operating 
conditions� Overall this was a strong effort by our Cane Transport 
team to sustain service levels and deliver cost savings and the co-
operation of the affected harvest groups was much appreciated� 

Another Key Performance Indicator for our cane transport operations is the 
derailments ratio (number of tonnes hauled per derailment)� The target for 
the year was 1:15,800 and the final ratio was just below this at 1:15,325� 
The main issues were the additional transport activity due to cane transfers 
and unfortunately, the inability to detect hot bearings and avoid burnt out 
bearing failures due to insufficient funding being available to replace the 
obsolete hot axle detector systems at both Marian mill and Farleigh mill�

Another customer service metric is the cane rail sidings radio 
communications protocol compliance monitoring which incorporates 
safety and efficiency elements� Our compliance rate for the 2016 season 
was 99% – another well embedded practice� Complaints resolution is 
also tracked and 98% of the formal complaints for the year received 
feedback within 48 hours� Unfortunately we were unable to meet the 
target of 85% of the complaints being resolved within seven days� 

The 2016 crushing season proved very difficult in terms of harvest 
management due to the extended season pushing harvest operations 
well into the wet season in early January� Wet weather had a significant 
impact on the 2016 season resulting in harvest conditions which, along with 
inconsistent factory operations, made the weekly management of harvest 
equity between our 180 plus harvest groups very challenging� A concerted 
effort was made to align harvest groups prior to the end of November 
before the high probability period at risk of closing the season down for 
wet weather� At the end of November 60% of the groups were within the 
targeted equity position� Once into the wetter weeks of December, supply 
and factory operations became very erratic and this was a major hindrance 
in managing equity� The end result was that only 33% of the groups were 
in line with the targeted equity position to be within approximately 2% 
of the mill by the time operations were called to a close on 5 January� 

Longer-term projects that have progressed include a review of the 
operational aspects of the Cane Supply and Processing Agreement (CSPA) 
and the Value Chain Project focussed on moving towards harvest best 
practice� With the revised Mackay Sugar Business and Strategic Plan 
being focussed on long-term sustainable improvements in our whole 
supply chain operations, we are targeting improvements that can be 
provided by our transport and logistics operations� Several efficiency 
and cost saving areas have been identified in the CSPA� These include 
further spread of harvest hours to improve rail transport efficiencies, 
rationalisation of sidings, a review of infield haulage subsidies and 
improved cane quality management amongst others� The consultation 
process with growers and their bargaining agents in respect of these 
amendments has commenced� Progress has also been made with the 
goal of moving towards harvest best practice with further infield loss 
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measurements being carried out, as well as through the support of industry 
bodies to secure funding for large scale commercial trials to be carried 
out on harvest losses in the coming season� The industry value chain 
project also includes research and development and extension aspects�

Crop Performance

MACKAY
The 2016 season resulted in a total of 5�6M tonnes (2015 season: 5�1M 
tonnes) of cane crushed from a harvested area of 63,083 hectares (2015 
season: 69,120 hectares)� Unfortunately there was also a total estimated 
stand over of 461,000 tonnes� This resulted in an average yield of 88�1 
t/hectare, which was 15�0 t/hectare above the 2015 season result of 
73�1 t/hectare� One of the reasons for the improved yield was the very 
wet period at the start of the crushing season which saw over three 
weeks of lost time due to the inability to harvest cane� The average 
sugar content (PRS) for the 2016 season was 12�96 units, which was a 
decrease of 1�50 units on the 2015 season figure of 14�46 units, again 
at least partially impacted by unseasonably wet conditions throughout 
the processing season� The average sugar yield of 9�80 t/hectare was 
down (0�33 t/hectare) on the 2015 season figure of 10�13t/hectare�

MOSSMAN
The Mossman crop for the 2016 season was 1,312,230 tonnes� 
The continued toll crushing agreement saw this volume split 
between Mossman mill and the MSF Sugar managed Arriga mill� 
A total of 898,392 tonnes was crushed in 23 weeks at Mossman 
mill and 413,838 was crushed in 27 weeks at Arriga mill� 

Mossman mill supply area increased by just under 200 hectares 
compared to the 2015 season to a harvested area of 13,802 hectares� 
The average yield across all districts was up 6�6 tonnes/hectare to 95�1 
tonnes of cane per hectare� The Tablelands area produced 111 tonnes 
cane per hectare and the Mossman area 91 tonnes cane per hectare� 
The average CCS was well below the five year average at 11�9� 

The toll crush arrangement in the 2016 season delivered a reduction in 
the number of trucks operating in the system and the move back to the 
push-pull cane bin process� Over 400,000 tonnes of cane was moved 
utilising the push-pull process during the season, a further 413,000 
tonnes of cane was transported via multi lift bins to the Arriga mill� 

The majority of the mill mud/ash produced was utilised on 
the coast by local growers, with both traditional spreaders 
and banded applicators used� Approximately 3% of the mill 
mud mix was utilised by the Tablelands growers� 

There was a 6% increase in derailments in 2016 season compared to 
the 2015 season, with 101 derailments recorded during the season, at 
a rate of 1:8,866 tonnes� The severity of these derailments however 
was very low with none contributing to loss of cane supply to the mill� 
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Milling

MACKAY
The 2016 crushing season commenced at Farleigh and Racecourse 
on Monday 30 May, and on one train at Marian mill on Thursday 2 
June 2016� Initially the crop was forecast at 5,400,000 million tonnes, 
however substantial rain during June and July promoted excellent 
growing conditions and the crop was reforecast to 5,600,000 tonnes 
and re-forecast again in early November to 5,950,000 tonnes� 

Wet weather plagued June and July as well as the last three weeks of 
the season� There were 25 days lost due to wet weather compared 
to a budget of eight days allocated for wet weather delays� 

During the steam trials an explosion in Marian No 1 Boiler caused 
the factory to operate on one milling train while emergency 
repairs were undertaken and this accounted for a delay of six 
weeks before the mill reverted to a two train operation�

The overall availability for the three Mackay mills was 76�2% with the 
majority of the downtime occurring at Marian in the early part of the 
season� Wet weather and factory availability combined to hamper 
production, however there were some positives, Farleigh produced 
65% premium sugar and 70,000 tonnes of bagasse, Marian produced 
18% premium sugar and 65,000 tonnes of bagasse, and Racecourse 
produced 57% premium sugar and 9,000 tonnes of bagasse� The last bin 
for the 2016 crushing season was tipped on Thursday 5 January 2017�

FARLEIGH MILL
Farleigh mill processed 1,865,304 million tonnes of cane at a rate 
of 508 tonnes per hour in just over 31 weeks� This was a record 
throughput for Farleigh and was a significant increase over the 2015 
season of 1�492 million tonnes at 468 tonnes per hour� Outside stops, 
which were mostly due to wet weather, amounted to 30�1 days which 
again was well over the budgeted allowance of eight days and 
consequently was a significant contributor to the longer season length�

The increase in crushing rate was attributed to a number of factors� 
A focus on repairing vacuum pan leaks whenever an opportunity 
emerged removed this factor from rate limiting considerations 
compared to the previous crushing season� The capital project to 
replace the Pritchard cooling towers was very successful and as a 
result cooling water temperature was not a rate limiting factor� 

The extraordinarily low CCS for the season resulted in a much lower 
loading for the high grade pan station during the traditional peak 
CCS period� 

Power generation was a significant and ongoing issue throughout the 
entire season commencing with the failure of the 3�5MW generator� During 
the investigation it was established that the generator protection systems 
were inadequate and consequently these were upgraded� To manage 
this failure the 3�0MW generator was returned to service� Unfortunately 
the turbine on this generator also failed mid-season due to an unknown 
cause and therefore the season was completed using diesel generators� 

The No 4 Boiler efficiency project commissioned in the 2015 
season continues to perform very well� As a result the bagasse 
exported from the site to the Racecourse Cogeneration facility 
significantly exceeded forecast� The positive results obtained 
for the boiler stack emissions are also attributed to this 
project which were again well within the licence limits� 

The cane purity for the season was extremely low and this had a 
detrimental impact on the factory efficiencies� For the first time in 
memory for substantial periods the factory had to revert back from a 
traditional three boil formula process to a two boil formula process� 
This was a significant contributor to the drop in recovery to 87�3� 

The factory produced a total of 235,478 tonnes of 
IPS Sugar and sugar quality was very good�

MARIAN MILL
Marian mill crushed 1,996,223 tonnes of cane throughout the 31�1 week 
season at a crushing rate of 684 tonnes per hour� The season length was 
extended due to wet weather influences which accounted for 477 hours 
of factory downtime (around 20 days) as well as factory issues including 
the No 1 Boiler incident which accounted for 21 days for Marian mill�

Factory availability for the 2016 crushing slipped significantly and was 
impacted severely due to the No 1 Boiler incident which occurred during the 
recommissioning of the boiler in the steam trials prior to the commencement 
of crushing� 

A major refurbishment of No 1 Boiler was undertaken during the 2017 
maintenance season to rectify the damage sustained during the 
pre-season steam trials, and also a significant refurbishment of No 
1 cooling tower in conjunction with repairs to No 2 cooling tower to 
increase the performance of these towers� Modifications to pan and 
evaporator condensers to reduce cooling water usage along with the 
replacement of No 6 pan condenser will reduce the cooling tower 
imbalances that were prevalent throughout the 2016 crushing� 

A replacement of the bottom section of No 1 bagasse conveyor along 
with the refurbishment and partial replacement of the rotating structure 
in the bagasse bin occurred during the maintenance season� 

During the 2017 maintenance season the boiler central control room 
has been refurbished and redesigned to enable two other stations to be 
moved to this central hub of the factory� The benefits expected will be 
increased communication between the three stations leading to improved 
factory performance� This will facilitate improved balance of the steam 
usage and provide the opportunity to troubleshoot issues when they arise� 

During the early part of the 2016 crush prior to No 1 Boiler being 
repaired, the 5MW alternator sustained serious damage due to 
an overheating event� A major refurbishment of this alternator 
and improvement of protection systems has been completed� 
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RACECOURSE MILL
Racecourse Mill processed 1,697,388 tonnes of cane at a crushing 
rate of 450 tonnes per hour during the crushing season� The 
season was extended due to operational delays as well as 
19 days of wet weather that affected harvesting operations�

The decrease in crushing rate was due to managing production through 
the evaporator set, in particular No 5 east effet vessel, late in 2016� 

A decrease in steam output from No 3 low pressure boiler caused 
by partial failure of the economiser and air heater impacted on 
the ability to maintain reasonable crushing rates as well� 

The mill produced 214,000 tonnes IPS sugar during the 2016 
season with a reduced recovery due to the lower purity and wet 
harvesting conditions� Factory availability was the major cause of 
this recovery loss� It was also a poor season for harvesting with 
unavoidable mud solids entering with the harvested cane� This 
ultimately led to a failed pressure feeder chute in No 1 mill�

The wet crush conditions also meant elevated hydraulic loading 
for the water treatment ponds, and due to the prevailing weather 
conditions there was less opportunity to irrigate out of the ponds� 

MOSSMAN MILL
Mossman mill began the season on Monday 3 June and crushed a 
total of 898,392 tonnes for the season� The tonnage was down 6% 
on the 2015 season due to the toll crushing of 413,838 tonnes of cane 
at Arriga Mill� The mill processed cane continuously again this season 
and was able to crush the crop in 23 weeks with the season ending 17 
November� This was a great outcome despite 20 days wet weather� 

The factory crushing rate was up 11% (34 tonnes per hour) compared 
to the 2015 season average with an average 334 tonnes of 
cane crushed per hour� This performance is well above the five 
year average for Mossman and was the direct result of targeted 
capital and maintenance on the milling train and evaporators�

Plant availability was up 1% on the intended target for the season� 
The improvement to the effets during the previous maintenance 
period saw the plant return to throughput rates not seen in 10 
years� Plant reliability and rate improvements meant that the 
bottleneck of the plant was moved to cane supply, and in the latter 
half of the season cane supply delays were a major issue� 

The major maintenance events during the season included 
shredder chokes, high speed elevator chain breakages and 
boiler tube leaks in the Babcock and JTA boilers� 

During the maintenance season the focus was on the 
Babcock dust collector, No 6 mill rollers and feed chutes, 
and improved guarding of conveyor belts�

Mossman produced 100,954 tonnes of Brand 1, Japanese Specification 
Brand 1 and Japanese specification (JA) raw sugar for sale through 
Queensland Sugar� Japanese specification sugar was the predominant 
product with over 80,000 tonnes produced� The majority of this sugar 
was deemed to meet the Queensland Sugar premium grade range� 
Arriga Mill produced 53,842 tonnes of Brand 1 specification sugar and 
100 tonnes of food grade bagged sugar was made for SIRA Sugar� 

Cogeneration
This is the fourth full year of operation for the Racecourse 
Cogeneration Plant� In that period, the plant’s annual power 
generation has increased from 177 GigaWatt hours (GWh) to 182 GWh 
but LGC’s sold decreased from 161,855 LGC’s to 148,910 LGC’s 

Availability of the No 4 boiler and cogeneration for 2017 was 
increased by 6% on the previous year� During the reporting 
period there had been increased uptime performance of the 
Racecourse Cogeneration Plant in crushing and maintenance 
season mode, particularly running into the first quarter of 2017� 

Operational Excellence (OE)
With 50% of factory downtime attributable to operational practices, the 
Company has continued to focus on best practice in operations through 
the implementation of the Mackay Sugar Production System (MSPS)� 

Standardised work practices are critical to the achievement of reliable 
operations� This is being addressed within the MSPS through the ongoing 
Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) development program� Over 400 
individual SOP’s have been created for Marian factory operations as 
well as selected areas at Racecourse, Farleigh and Mossman mills� 

The technical information within the SOP forms the basis of a newly 
implemented competency-based training program for Mackay Sugar 
factory operating positions� Training material has been customised 
for Mackay Sugar factories and is comprised of theory, practical and 
demonstrated elements of competency� Prior to the 2017 crush, all 
Marian mill operators undertook the theory and practical elements 
and will work through the demonstrated competency phase for the 
remainder of the season� Racecourse, Farleigh and Mossman mills 
completed this training in areas where SOP’s have been developed� 

Teamwork is vitally important to factory operations� Mackay Sugar is 
moving towards best practice teamwork by building an environment to 
promote effective leadership, communication and team-based problem-
solving� This concept is recognised as a key driver in achieving operational 
best practice and the Company is determined to realise its benefits�
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Projects

The current five year plan for capital and major maintenance identifies capital work required 
to achieve 2021 crushing targets for all factory stations, cane railway and rolling stock. 

The project list has been reviewed and reprioritised following the 2016 season 
through discussions with managers, supervisors and key stakeholders.

Twenty-eight factory capital projects totalling $21.9M have been implemented 
during the reporting year. Included in this capital is $9.5M for the remediation 
of Marian No 1 Boiler and $2.2m for the repair to the Marian 5MW turbo 
alternator. Both of these projects were completed under insurance claims. 

The larger projects are described below.

MARIAN NO 1 BOILER 
REMEDIATION REPAIRS
Following the No 1 Boiler explosion during steam trials in June 2016 
there was significant damage to the boiler and EDMS Australia 
was engaged to undertake critical repairs necessary to return the 
boiler to service� This was achieved in eight weeks and the boiler 
was successfully operated for the remainder of the 2016 crush�

During the recent 2016/17 maintenance period a full repair 
was completed which included extensive tube replacement, 
structural steel repairs and ducting replacement� The boiler has 
been successfully returned to service for the 2017 crush� 

The work was project managed by the Company as well as all 
electrical works associated with this repair� This was a major repair and 
involved over 59,600 man-hours during the shutdown to complete� 

MARIAN CENTRALISED  
CONTROL ROOM 
A cheaper ($290,000) option for a new centralised control room was 
developed, which involved a redesign and modification of the existing 
central control room to allow for the boiler (feeding, milling and boiler), 
evaporator (juice circuit, clarification and filter) and Low Grade (LG) 
pans (LG pans and fugals) operators to be all stationed in the same 
room� This option was successfully completed prior to the 2017 crush�

RACECOURSE WATER 
The project involved the installation of a 1 ML storage buffer tank 
and ancillary pipe work to allow the Company access to Mackay 
Regional Council (MRC) water during periods of high demand and 
periods when river water won’t be pumped by MRC due to high 
water turbidity� Work has been completed and commissioned 
for stage 2� Final connection to the MRC main is expected early 
July 2017, when the MRC water main is finally connected�

RACECOURSE NO. 5  
EAST EFFET 
Leaking tubes on this vessel were a major crushing rate 
limiter at Racecourse during the 2016 crush� Although this 
project was approved late in March 2017, it was completed 
successfully during the first week of June 2017� 

MOSSMAN B&W  
FRACTIONATING SYSTEM
The installation of a fractionating system on the B&W boiler has been 
completed� This will improve the efficiency of the dust collector 
system, and help reduce emission to licence standard and achieve 
compliance with stack emission limits� Performance testing early 
in the 2017 season will confirm the success of this project�
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Marketing

Outcomes for Year 
Ended 31 May 2017

Weighted average sugar price for both Mackay and 
Mossman regions of A$487�48 per IPS tonne achieved 
(this number represents the result of all pricing 
including long term banded pricing completed by both 
miller and grower, QSL in-season pricing, Queensland 
Commodity Services (QCS) in-season pricing, and 
the shared pool results of both QSL and QCS)�

Sold 449,701 tonnes of raw sugar to QSL 
(2015 season: 390,155 tonnes)�

Sold 380,002 tonnes to Sugar Australia 
(2015 season: 450,000 tonnes)�

Molasses Revenue Pool Price of A$121�59 per tonne�

Successfully completed the third season under our 
Miller Economic Interest (MEI) marketing agreement 
with Alvean Sugar covering 164,199 tonnes of 
raw sugar being marketed into the Far East at a 
guaranteed premium significantly above QSL returns�

BUSINESS
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SUGAR MARKETS
Sugar prices experienced significant volatility over the 
past twelve months, peaking at US 24c/lb before a sharp 
reversal saw prices closer to US 15c/lb in May 2017� 

Global sugar supply moved from a period of net deficit in 2016/17 
to a projected return to surplus supply conditions in 2017/18 and 
beyond� The cyclical adjustments in sugar production are largely 
influenced by global weather patterns and an ever shifting raft 
of agricultural trade policies looking to protect domestic rural 
sectors� Foreign Government backed overseas entities have also 
become heavily involved in managing domestic sugar reserves, 
with such stockpiles adding to the difficulty in forecasting prices�

The sugar market now nervously awaits Europe’s entry as a global 
sugar trader after decades of quota restrictions� Europe will 
become a major sugar producer and supplier to export markets 
going forward, with this geographic region able to respond 
quickly to global supply imbalances, ultimately leading to what 
some commentators believe will be less volatile sugar prices�

As in the previous seasons, Mackay Sugar sold 100 percent of our raw 
sugar for the 2016 season to QCS under the Commodity Marketing 
Agreement� QCS in turn sold raw sugar domestically to the Sugar 
Australia Joint Venture (Sugar Australia), and for export via QSL� A 
total of 56 percent of the sugar sourced in the Mackay region was 
sold to Sugar Australia and the remaining 44 percent was sold via 
QSL� (2015 season: 65 percent and 35 percent respectively)� Sales 
to Sugar Australia were destined to be refined at Racecourse and 
Yarraville refineries� Of our Mossman region raw sugar production, 
QCS sold 100 percent via QSL (2016 season: 100 percent)� The sugar 
sold via QSL in both Mackay and Mossman regions includes our 
Miller Economic Interest (MEI) sugar, which was physically priced 
and marketed by QCS in conjunction with Alvean Sugar, covering 
164,199 tonnes, or 36�51 percent of all MSL sugar sold via QSL�

The average sugar price achieved in the 2016 season across both 
the Mackay and Mossman regions was A$487�48 per IPS tonne� 
This is a weighted average price of all pricing completed by 
growers, QSL, and QCS and represents the combined decisions of 
these parties during the 2016 season and previous seasons�

QCS PERFORMANCE
QCS completed its third full financial year in May 2017, posting results 
that were in line with expectations� From a pricing perspective, QCS 
took a neutral view on the markets and reverted to benchmark pricing 
for its pricing and pooling activities� In late 2016, given the high price 
environment, QCS made the decision to extend the pricing window 
for Long Term Banded Pricing (LTBP) from 31 December 2016 to 28 
February 2017� During this two month window, 50,089 IPS tonnes of 
pricing was completed for the 2017 season at an average price of 
$555�66 IPS tonne, adding significant value to Mackay Sugar’s growers�

QCS completed its second year of the marketing agreement with Alvean� 
The 2016 season saw the shipment of 164,199 tonnes of sugar again sold 
at a significant premium over and above the premium achieved by QSL�

In early 2017, we again negotiated with Sugar Australia to 
supply their 2017 season requirements for the refinery at 
Racecourse� Volumes were increased from 380,002 tonnes for 
the 2016 season to 420,000 tonnes in the 2017 season� 

During the 2016 season, QCS worked successfully with Alvean and QSL 
to market Japanese grade sugar made from Mackay mills in the Mackay 
district� Together, we successfully produced and marketed 185,481 
tonnes of sugar to Japan� This was the first tonnage shipped from 
Mackay mills in the Mackay district to Japan since 2001 (Farleigh mill)�

As noted last year, in December 2016 the Sugar Industry (Real 
Choice in Marketing) Amendment Bill 2015 was passed in the 
Queensland Parliament, bringing in a new era for sugar marketing 
in Australia� QCS continues to work through this new legislation 
but remains focussed on providing the expertise and services that 
provide the best returns to Mackay Sugar and its growers�
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Mackay Sugar’s activities are governed by legislative obligations and 
community expectations. We utilise our Environmental Management 
System to ensure compliance and to encourage continuous 
improvement leading to better environmental performance. 

FARLEIGH MILL
Farleigh mill has completed all works as identified in the Transitional 
Environmental Program (TEP) issued by the Department of Environment 
and Heritage Protection (DEHP) which has resulted in significant 
reductions in particulate concentrations released within YEM17 and 
continues to demonstrate compliance with Environmental Authority 
and TEP requirements� The TEP is due to expire in November 2017�

MOSSMAN MILL
The TEP issued to Mossman mill to address stack emission levels 
expired December 2016� Extensive refurbishment was completed during 
the maintenance season, however demonstrated compliance has not 
been achieved against the Environmental Authority or TEP threshold 
limits� Mossman mill was issued with a PIN (Penalty Infringement 
Notice) for failure to meet performance indicators to reduce particulate 
emissions to within 90% of target reduction by 27 September 2016� 
Rectification works were completed during the maintenance season 
to ensure air emission limits are within licence conditions� 

Mossman Mill recorded a total of five Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) 
exceedances during the 2016 crushing season� All BOD exceedances 
were notified to DEHP as a non-compliance with condition C5 of the 
Environmental Authority� As a result Mackay Sugar was issued with 
two Penalty Infringement Notices (PINs) and a warning from DEHP� 
Mossman mill was issued with a notice to commence an Environmental 
Evaluation to determine the cause of BOD exceedances� The final 
report for the evaluation will be due for submission in February 2018� 

RACECOURSE MILL
Community complaints were received regarding odour at the 
Racecourse mill effluent treatment ponds� Mackay Sugar has 
conducted an odour monitoring program and installed aerators 
to assist in the water movement and aeration at the ponds�

Racecourse mill applied for two Temporary Emissions Licences 
(TEL) to allow for release of effluent water in Pond 2 via Rocky 
Creek� At the completion of the initial TEL, DEHP identified six 
possible non-conformances with conditions of the TEL and 
Environmental Authority� DEHP issued Racecourse mill with 
a PIN and formal warning for contraventions of the TEL� The 
later TEL was closed out, compliant with all conditions�

MARIAN MILL
Mackay Sugar received notice from DEHP to supply relevant 
information to assist in their investigations of an environmental 
incident which was reported at Sandy Creek in September 2016 and 
alleged contraventions� The incident remains under investigation� 

Our Environmental Management System (EMS) is now inclusive of all 
Mackay Sugar operations including full integration of Mossman mill� 
Monthly compliance inspections are conducted at each site to measure 
compliance against legislation and our EMS� Mackay Sugar is committed 
to minimising any environmental impact as a result of our operations 
and we continue to work in partnership with the DEHP to achieve better 
environmental outcomes for our operations� We have continued to work 
vigorously to maintain our relationship with the regulator and keep them 
abreast of environmental activity at our mills� We meet regularly with the 
regulatory body to achieve the ideal outcome for all those concerned� 

ENVIRONMENTAL INDEX
We have introduced an Environmental Index which mirrors 
the intent of the Safety Index focussing on lead indicators and 
measures effectiveness of the Environmental Management System� 
The Environmental Index is derived from five separate indices 
for each of the operational business units� The three elements 
focus on action completion, monthly environmental compliance 
audit results, hazard/near miss reporting and incidents� 

Significant effort has been made towards promoting a culture where 
employees and service providers are aware of environmental hazards 
and risks with the need for prompt reporting� Environmental Management 
will remain a strong focus, including reduction in water usage and 
identifying efficiency opportunities, operating within our Environmental 
Authorities and maintaining our Environmental Management System�

ENVIRONMENT
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Overall Summary
A workforce that is skilled, engaged and motivated to work safely 
to achieve business success is fundamental in achieving our 
vision and creating shareholder value� Thus, a strong emphasis 
on recognition of achievements, employee engagement, training 
and development have been a significant focus during the period, 
ensuring our employees feel connected, not only to their role, 
their team and supervisor but also to the Company strategy�

The structure of our organisation includes: Cane Supply and Logistics, 
Milling Operations, Projects, Asset Care, and Services� An organisational 
restructure during the year included bringing together the human 
resource, environment and workplace health and safety activities 
under one group, with a Human Resources Advisor based at each 
mill site as opposed to the past practice of a centralised department� 
This has resulted in a more efficient level of communication, 
consultation and customer service across these disciplines�

Another key change for the year was a review of the Company’s 
Vision and Values, resulting in a simpler Vision Statement 
which clearly defines our Purpose, and more concise set of 
Values which support a focus on core functions, namely:

 — Safety,
 — Challenge Innovate Change,
 — Teamwork,
 — Drive for Results�

The revised values now form part of the annual performance review for 
employees� As at 31 May 2017, 908 employees were employed, ready to 
work across our four main locations (Farleigh, Marian, Racecourse and 
Mossman) for the 2017 crushing season� At the peak of the 2016 crushing 
season, 944 people were employed, 335 of whom filled seasonal roles�

Our permanent workforce comprises 163 salaried personnel in a variety 
of management, planning, procurement, information technology, human 
resources, accounting and administrative roles, and 355 wages personnel 
in a variety of trade, technical and processing roles� Workforce planning and 
organisational changes continue to focus on delivering a workforce with 
the capabilities and capacity to deliver the required business outcomes�

Both Mackay and Mossman experienced successful recruitment drives 
for the 2017 crushing season with 31 new employees in Mackay, and 13 
new employees in Mossman to commence at the start of the season� 

With the annual apprentice recruitment drive deferred for one year, 19 
apprentices successfully qualified as tradespeople during the period, 
resulting in 29 apprentices being employed as at 31 May 2017� 

Recent indications are the regional job market is tightening up, so there 
remains a need for competitive job benefits including the provision 
of stimulating, meaningful and skilled work tasks to retain our current 
workforce� The focus continues to be the leadership development 
opportunities for all of our leaders to drive for better results across 
all aspects of the business whilst at the same time ensuring that the 
workforce is effectively engaged in meaningful work accompanied 
by mutually beneficial training and learning opportunities�

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT
Employee engagement continues to be a focus for the Company 
as a whole and for Business Units, with individual Key Performance 
Indicators targeting specific action plans to build upon and improve 
the level of engagement among employees� The Human Resources 
team provides guidance and support to Managers in employee 
engagement and oversees completion of employee engagement 
action plans by actively seeking employee feedback, analysing the 
gaps and developing plans to continuously improve our culture�

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
We provide employment opportunities for a diverse range of 
people, relying on the criteria of ‘best person for the job’� Successful 
compliance with the completion and submission of the Workplace 
Gender Equality Report attests to our full compliance in that aspect 
of employment law� We are continuing to build data collection 
capabilities in accordance with current and future legislative 
requirements in preparation for continued compliance�

PROVIDING OPPORTUNITIES TO 
OUR FEMALE EMPLOYEES
For the 12-month reporting period ending May 2017, females 
accounted for approximately 18% of our entire workforce, a ratio 
which has remained consistent for some time� Female employee 
numbers typically increase during our crushing season, with 
women making up 30% of the seasonal workforce across both 
the cane supply and factory areas during the crushing season�

REWARD AND RECOGNITION PROGRAM
The Reward and Recognition program continues to be well 
supported, with more than 18 employees nominating their 
colleagues for awards in the various categories� Since June 2016, 
we have presented ten awards to our employees for Innovation, 
Initiative and Environment and Safety Achievements�

ENHANCING LEADERSHIP 
WITHIN THE BUSINESS
The second tier of leadership in the business (those employees who 
report to Executive Team members) have completed a leadership 
assessment program that includes a 360 degree review and 
development plan, with their results also being added to their 
annual performance review processes� These processes will be 
extended to employees who are appointed to Superintendent 
or equivalent roles as well as those employees identified as 
having high potential for development within the business� 
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Work health and safety is a priority for Mackay Sugar and is 
managed in accordance with the statutory provisions of the Work 
Health and Safety Act 2011 (the Act) and supported by a range of 
work, health and safety and return to work policies and initiatives. 
The health and safety team provides guidance and support to each 
business unit in implementing the requirements under the Act.

Throughout the year, we have continued on our journey to improved 
safety performance with another strong year of reducing injuries with 
a significant drop in LTIFR to 3�44 (YEM2016: 4�62)� The importance 
of prompt injury, incident and hazard reporting has been a common 
theme of discussion across site communications to ensure risks are 
effectively managed� Understanding our operational risk profile has 
been further refined this year with the annual review of risk registers to 
ensure we remain current in recognising our risk exposures and have 
effective preventative and mitigating controls to manage the risk� 

The Safety Index is a weighted index measurement focussed 
on lead indicators designed to measure the effectiveness of 
key proactive elements of the Safety and Health Management 
System� The index is designed to promote a culture of ownership 
and accountability for safety and comprises three key elements: 
Information and Communication; Implementation and Monitoring; 
and Improvement� Elements are measured against attendance 
at toolbox talks, job observations, scheduled training, HSE 
Committee meetings, incident records and reporting timeframes� 
Throughout the year, we have consistently exceeded the Safety 
Index target of 1�00, ending the year with a result of 1�07�

Our health and wellbeing process has continued throughout 
the year� We continue to identify opportunities to enhance our 
health and wellbeing at work and our initiatives include influenza 
vaccinations offered onsite to staff; health alerts, Workplace 
Quit Smoking Program and Employee Wellbeing Medicals�

Mackay Sugar Limited was provided with a Complaint and Summons by 
Workplace Health and Safety Queensland (WHSQ) in May 2016 relating 
to an alleged breach of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld)� 
The complaint relates to an incident which occurred on 25 September 
2014 whilst an employee was operating the tip at our Mossman mill 
when his right foot became trapped between the edge of the cradle 
of the tip and the cane bin exit area of the tip as the cradle of the 
tip returned to its resting position� The worker sustained extensive 
injury to the right foot, which was later amputated below the knee� 

A draft Enforceable Undertaking has been developed as a 
result of this summons and is currently under review with 
WHSQ consisting of activities to be undertaken promoting the 
objectives of the Safety Acts which will deliver benefits for:

 — workers/others;
 — industry;
 — community�

Safety will remain a core focus for the Company with increased 
attention on employee engagement and interactive safety 
initiatives throughout the year� Initiatives will continue including 
contractor management, hazard reduction projects, and 
enhancing the safety culture� Our Safety and Health Management 
System will be maintained in accordance with AS 4801�
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Board of  
Directors

Andrew Shane Cappello 
MAICD 
Chairman

Andrew has been an elected Grower Director 
since 2001 and has been a cane producer 
for 35 years� He was appointed Chairman 
in February 2010� Andrew is also Chairman 
of Pioneer Valley Water Co-operative�

He is a Director of the Australian Sugar 
Milling Council, Pioneer Valley Water 
Mutual and the Queensland Co-operative 
Federation� An alternate Director of Sugar 
Australia Pty Limited and New Zealand 
Sugar Company and a Mackay Sugar 
representative on the Board of Mackay Area 
Productivity Services Pty Limited� He is also 
a former Director of the Australian National 
Committee for Irrigation and Drainage

Committee memberships 
Audit and Finance Committee, Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee, Milling 
Operations Strategy Committee�

The names and profiles of the Directors in office 
from 1 June 2016 to the date of this report are shown 
below. A record of attendance at board meetings 
during the year under review is set out on page 40.
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Lee Blackburn 
Grower Director

Lee was appointed as a Grower Director in 
October 2014� He has been a grower for 20 
years and has been managing the family farm 
and harvesting business since 2002� Lee is 
also a Director of Queensland Commodity 
Services and Mackay Area Productivity 
Services, a former Director of Mackay 
Canegrowers Limited and former member of 
the Canegrowers Mackay Area Committee�

Committee memberships 
Compliance Committee and 
Cane Supply Strategy Committee�

Lawrence Bugeja 
GAICD 
Grower Director

Lawrence was appointed as a Grower 
Director in October 2013� He has been a cane 
farmer for more than 36 years and has been 
managing the family farm and harvesting 
business since 1987� He is Deputy Chairman 
of Mackay Area Productivity Services (MAPS) 
and the Pioneer Valley Water Board� He is a 
former Director of both Mackay Canegrowers 
Limited and Queensland Canegrowers 
Organisation Limited and was also a member 
of the Marian Mill Suppliers Committee and 
the Canegrowers Mackay Area Committee�

Committee memberships 
Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee, Compliance Committee, 
Cane Supply Strategy Committee�

Mark Day 
Non-Grower Director

Mark recently completed three and a half 
years in Brazil as Operations Director for eight 
sugar cane factories owned by Bunge Brazil 
crushing 20 million tonnes of cane producing 
sugar, ethanol and electricity� Bunge is 
one of Brazil’s largest cane processors�

Prior to that Mark had an extensive career 
with CSR/Wilmar in sugar, managing CSR’s 
Cane sugar businesses as Executive General 
Manager for six years and two years in 
Indonesia with Wilmar� In CSR he commenced 
as a shift supervisor in the Mackay region in 
1980 and worked through several regions 
in the Queensland sugar industry with CSR

He has served as a Director on the Board 
of STL, BSES, SRI, AMT and was also 
a Director and Chairman of ASMC for 
a period� He has a Degree in Applied 
Mathematics and has attended Executive 
programs at Wharton Business School�

Committee Memberships 
Milling Operations Strategy Committee�

Board of  
Directors
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Richard Findlay 
Non-Grower Director

Richard has an extensive background 
in agribusiness and food manufacturing 
having held senior executive positions at 
Goodman Fielder, George Weston Foods, 
Sunbeam and Manassen Foods Groups�

His most recent senior roles were Chief 
Executive Officer of Sunbeam Foods Group 
and Chief Operating Officer/Director of 
Manassen Foods� He is currently a Director 
of a private Tasmanian food group�

Committee Memberships 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee�

Paul Manning 
BEng (Mech), Dip Ag. GAICD 
Grower Director

Paul is a third generation cane farmer and 
was elected to the Board as a Grower 
Director in October 2014� Paul returned to 
cane farming in 2010 after working as a 
professional engineer for approximately 20 
years, predominantly in the West Australian 
Iron Ore mining industry� During this period 
he worked in a variety of maintenance, 
major project management and engineering 
management roles for BHP Billiton Iron Ore 
and in a project role for Sinclair Knight Merz�

Committee Memberships 
Audit and Finance Committee, 
Compliance Committee�

Maurice Clement Maughan 
FCA FTIA JP (C.dec) 
Non-Grower Director

Maurice Maughan was appointed to the 
Board as a Non-Grower Director in 2012, 
and a Director of Queensland Commodity 
Services and Mackay Commodity Services 
in 2015� In 2006, after 31 years, he retired 
from the international accounting firm KPMG 
as a partner� Maurice was responsible for 
providing advice to a number of companies 
including those in the Queensland sugar 
industry� He has extensive business 
experience as a result of his time with KPMG 
and remains actively involved as a Director 
or advisor to several companies� Maurie 
is a former Director of Mossman mill�

Committee Memberships 
Audit and Finance Committee�
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Jason Lowry 
BEng, MBA 
Chief Executive Officer

Jason’s primary focus is to create and 
implement development strategies 
that ensure the company’s business 
objectives are achieved and stakeholder 
expectations are met� He is responsible 
for managing the business to achieve 
optimal profitability and effective use 
of the business’ assets and people�

Jason was appointed Chief Executive Officer 
in September 2015, having previously 
held the position of General Manager-
Milling Operations since 2013� He first 
joined Mackay Sugar as Milling Operations 
Manager in early 2012� Jason has a wealth 
of experience in leading operations in a 
variety of food commodities� Prior to coming 
to Mackay Sugar, Jason held leadership 
positions with American Crystal Sugar 
Company and Cargill Incorporated�

Jason is a Director of the Australian Sugar 
Milling Council, Sugar Australia Pty Limited, 
New Zealand Sugar Limited, Oriana Shipping 
Co Pte Ltd and Sugar North Limited�

David Said 
BBus FCPA 
Chief Financial Officer

David was appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer from 16 January 2017 having previously 
held the position of Manager – Business 
Services� He is responsible for Business 
Services, Supply and Procurement�

David and his team perform the financial 
operations for the group ensuring statutory 
and contracted obligations are met� They 
provide the necessary financial reporting to 
internal and external stakeholders as well as 
dealing with financial institutions to manage 
daily transactions and borrowings, ensuring all 
compliance requirements are satisfied� They 
also source, negotiate, acquire and supply the 
goods and services required by the business�

David has over 25 years’ experience with 
Mackay Sugar, commencing as a Graduate 
Accountant at Corporate Office in 1990� He 
moved to Pleystowe Mill in 1993 to perform 
various accounting roles before transferring 
to the Business Service Centre at Farleigh 
Mill in 2001 as Senior Accountant�

David is a Director of Pioneer Valley 
Water Co-operative Limited�

Peter Gill 
BEc LLB GDipTax FCPA  
General Manager 
Commercial and Legal

Peter was appointed General Manager 
Commercial and Legal on 16 January 
2017, having previously been the Chief 
Financial Officer since 31 May 2013� Peter 
returned to Mackay Sugar in August 2012, 
after acting as General Counsel and 
Company Secretary for Mackay Sugar 
Cooperative between 1999 and 2003�

Peter is a solicitor and is a Fellow of CPA 
Australia� He was previously employed by 
McCullough Robertson Solicitors from 1988 
– 1999 and 2004 – 2012� During his time at 
McCullough Robertson and when employed 
by Mackay Sugar and Mackay Sugar 
Cooperative, Peter has been closely involved 
with Mackay Sugar’s commercial and legal 
matters and in particular the establishment 
of the sugar refining joint ventures, financing 
arrangements, Cane Supply and Processing 
Agreements, the Racecourse Cogeneration 
Project and the acquisition of Mossman 
Mill� He has also been involved in general 
sugar industry matters from both a legal, 
commercial and financial perspective�

Management
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Terry Doolan 
General Manager 
Milling Operations

Terry is responsible for milling operations at 
the Farleigh, Racecourse and Marian mills, 
including all maintenance and capital works 
programs� He also oversees the Company’s 
improvement projects� Terry was appointed 
General Manager-Milling Operations in 
September 2015, having previously held the 
position of Factory Manager at Racecourse 
and Farleigh mills� He has more than 30 
years’ experience at Mackay Sugar� Terry 
first commenced his career in the sugar 
industry in 1970 as an Apprentice Fitter and 
Turner at Pleystowe Mill and after leaving 
the industry for a brief period of dairy 
farming in 1980 returned to Mackay Sugar 
in 1995 to perform in roles such as Single 
Shift Supervisor, Maintenance Supervisor 
and, most recently, Factory Manager�

Craig Bentley 
BSc Eng (Agricultural) 
MSc Eng 
General Manager Cane 
Supply and Logistics

Craig’s focus is to provide leadership, 
management and strategic direction to the 
Cane Supply and Logistics departments 
centred on the safe and efficient operation of 
Mackay Sugar’s cane transport operations� 

Craig’s area of responsibility includes 
cane development, harvest management, 
inbound cane transport, asset care of rail 
infrastructure and rollingstock and outbound 
sugar and other co-products transport�”

Craig was appointed to the role of General 
Manager Cane Supply and Logistics in May 
2014 after commencing as Cane Supply 
Manager in November 2012� Prior to that, 
Craig spent nearly 14 years with one of 
South Africa’s leading supply chain services 
companies, Unitrans Supply Chain Solutions, 
where he occupied several roles with their 
Mining and Agriculture Division� He was at 
various times a member of the Executive 
Committee as General Manager Technical 
and Operational Excellence, General Manager 
of an operations business unit and General 
Manager of Business Development� Craig 
has also worked as a professional engineer 
in agricultural mechanisation, design and 
construction of water reticulation systems 
and specialist materials engineering 
consulting in concrete structures, water-
proofing and corrosion protection�

Haydn Slattery 
GAICD, Dip App Sc, Dip Mgt 
General Manager 
Mossman Mill

Haydn was appointed General Manager 
Mossman Mill on 1 June 2014 and he resigned 
on 16 June 2017� He was responsible for 
the Mossman mill operations, including 
cane supply and transport logistics, factory 
operations, business improvements functions, 
and capital and maintenance projects� 
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The Board of Mackay Sugar Limited maintain high standards 
of corporate governance as part of their commitment to 
maximise shareholder value through promoting effective 
strategic planning, risk management, transparency and 
corporate responsibility. The Board fosters a culture that 
values ethical behaviour, integrity and respect. Adherence 
by the Company and its people to the highest standard of 
corporate governance is critical in order to achieve its vision.

Corporate 
Governance

SHAREHOLDERS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The Board delegates management to the Company and the 

implementation of approved strategies to the Chief Executive Officer

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsible for the oversight of the Company and operating in 
accordance with the high standards of corporate governance

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

Audit and 
Finance 

Committee

Compliance 
Committee

Milling 
Operations 

Strategy 
Committee

Remuneration 
and Nominations 

Committee

Cane Supply 
Strategy 

Committee

OUR COMPANY

Mackay Sugar Annual Report 201732



FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD
The Board is responsible for oversight of the management of the 
Company and providing strategic direction� The Board believes 
that operating in accordance with high standards of corporate 
governance is a key element in the drive to improve the Company’s 
performance� The Board has adopted a Charter and policies and 
established a number of committees to discharge its duties� 

The Board has a formal Charter which documents its membership, 
operating procedures and the allocation of responsibilities between the 
Board and management� It directs and monitors the business and affairs 
of Mackay Sugar Limited on behalf of shareholders and is responsible for 
the Company’s Corporate Governance� 

In addition to matters required by law to be approved by the Board, 
the following powers are reserved for the Board for decision:

BOARD/EXECUTIVE 
PERSONNEL

 — Composition of the Board 
including the appointment 
and retirement or 
removal of Directors�

 — Board succession planning to 
ensure an appropriate mix of 
skills, experience and diversity� 
(subject to the influence of 
Voting Shareholders to elect 
Grower Directors at the AGM)�

 — Appoint and remove the Chief 
Executive Officer or equivalent�

 — Where appropriate, ratify the 
appointment and the removal 
of senior executives�

 — Approve and review 
succession planning for the 
CEO and senior executives�

 — Approve the overall 
remuneration policy 
including incentive plans 
upon the recommendation 
of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee�

CORPORATE STRATEGY 
AND REPORTING

 — Delegate responsibility for 
the day to day operation and 
management of the Company 
to the Chief Executive Officer 
and senior management�

 — Approve and monitor 
the progress of major 
capital expenditure, 
capital management, and 
acquisitions and sales�

 — Approve and monitor annual and 
half year reports, statements as 
to future financial performance 
or changes to the policy or 
strategy of the Company�

 — Input into and grant final 
approval of corporate strategy 
and performance objectives 
developed by management�

 — Monitor industry developments 
relevant to the Company 
and its business�

RISK AND  
COMPLIANCE

 — Review, ratify and monitor 
systems of risk management 
and internal control, codes of 
conduct and legal compliance�

 — The overall corporate 
governance of the Company 
including its strategic direction 
and goals for management, 
and monitoring the 
achievement of these goals�

 — Oversight of Committees�

STAKEHOLDER 
COMMUNICATIONS

 — Disclose information 
in accordance with the 
Corporations Act to ensure 
shareholders and other 
stakeholders are informed 
of all material developments 
affecting the Company�

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
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BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board is currently comprised of eight Directors, with

 — Five Grower Directors, including the Chairman; and
 — Three Non-Grower Directors�

The Board must comprise no less than seven Directors, two of 
whom must be Non-Grower Directors, or more than seven where 
the Board considers that additional expertise is required in 
specific areas or when an outstanding candidate is identified�

The Directors currently holding office at the date of this report 
are set out on page 27 – 29 of this Annual Report�

BOARD APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT
The appointment and election of Grower Directors will be in accordance 
with Rule 15�2 of the Constitution� When a vacancy arises for a Non-
Grower Director or where the Board decides a new Director is required 
with particular skills, the Remuneration and Nominations Committee must 
prepare a list of candidates considering what may be appropriate for the 
Company� This includes the skills, expertise and experience required, and 
the mix of those skills and experience with those of the existing Directors� 

The appointed candidate will be required to have his or her appointment 
confirmed by resolution of the shareholders at the first general meeting 
of shareholders following the appointment of the Non-Grower Director�

The terms and conditions of the appointment of all new 
Non-Grower Directors must be specified in a letter of 
appointment� The letter of appointment will refer to the 
Constitution and to the Board Charter document�

Under the Constitution at least one-third of the Grower Directors, 
being the longest serving Directors, must retire at each Annual 
General Meeting� Retiring Directors are eligible to be re-elected�

BOARD MEETINGS
Board meetings are normally held monthly, and must occur not 
less than ten times in any year� The Board visit all of the Company’s 
sites throughout the year and this includes a presentation by 
management to aid Directors understanding of the business� 

Details of Board and Committee meetings held and attendances at 
those meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 40�

DIRECTOR TRAINING
Directors must be provided with information about the Company before 
accepting the appointment and complete an induction program after 
their appointment, in each case appropriate for them to discharge 
their responsibilities in office� Meetings with the Chief Executive Officer 
and senior executives, information on the strategic plan and key 
corporate and Board policies are included in the induction process�

Directors are given access to continuing education in relation to the 
Company, extending to its business, the industry in which it operates, and 
other information required by them to discharge the responsibilities of 
their office�

BOARD EVALUATION AND 
PERFORMANCE REVIEW
A Board evaluation and performance review is conducted by an external 
consultant every three years� The scope of the evaluation is to determine 
the level at which the Board is performing, identify the areas in which 
the Board may improve and provide an opportunity to have a facilitated 
discussion about enhancing governance practices� The performance 
review may also provide for improved leadership, greater clarity of roles 
and responsibilities, improved teamwork, increased accountability, 
better decision making and more efficient Board operations�

The performance of all other Directors is reviewed and assessed every 
two years by the Chairman, and the performance of the Chairman is 
reviewed and assessed every two years by the other Directors� 

An external assessment of the Board’s policies and procedures, 
and its effectiveness generally must be conducted by independent 
professional consultants at intervals of three years�
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INDEPENDENT ADVICE
Directors may seek independent legal or other professional advice 
at the Company’s expense on matters arising during the course 
of his or her duties with the prior approval of the Chairman�

CODE OF CONDUCT
All Directors and Executives are required at all times to act in 
accordance with the Company’s Code of Conduct, which prescribes 
standards of behaviour to be maintained in relation to:

 —  Obligation to comply with 
the code and the law

 —  General duties of Directors
 —  Independent decision making 

and soundness of decisions
 —  Confidentiality of Board matters 

and other information

 —  Improper use of information
 —  Personal interests and conflicts
 —  Conduct of Directors
 —  Board performance 

TRADING IN SECURITIES
The Board has a code of conduct for transactions in securities 
that applies to Directors of the Company� This code of conduct 
sets out the legal duties relating to transactions in securities� 

As a basic principle the Charter states that Directors should 
not buy or sell securities in the Company when they are in 
possession of price sensitive information which is not available 
to the market� In addition, the Charter identifies the permitted 
timeframes for trading in securities and blackout periods during 
which no Directors are allowed to trade in Company securities�

Permission may be given for trading outside of the specified timeframes 
if the approving person is satisfied that the transaction would not 
be contrary to law, for speculative gain, to take advantage of insider 
knowledge, or seen by the public, press or other shareholders as unfair�

DEALING WITH CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The Board has conflict of interest guidelines within the Charter which 
apply if there is a conflict between the personal interests of a Director 
and the duties the Director owes to the Company� Directors have a duty 
to avoid any conflict between the best interests of the Company and 
his or her own personal interests or the interests of any third party�

Every Director must be aware of both actual and potential conflicts 
of interest� The law requires that a Director with a conflict of interest 
should refrain from voting, or entering into any discussion, at, or even 
being present during relevant Board discussions� A Director who has 
any material personal interest in a matter must not be present at a 
meeting while the matter is being considered and must not vote on the 
matter� A personal interest may be either direct or indirect and either 
pecuniary or otherwise� Papers relevant to any matter on which there 
is a known conflict of interest, or in relation to which there is a material 
personal interest, will not be provided to any Director concerned�
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Board 
Committees

Each Committee has a Charter, detailing its role, duties and membership requirements. 
The Committee Charters are reviewed annually and updated as required. Each Committee’s 
Charter may be viewed on the Company’s website at www.mkysugar.com.au.

All Directors have a standing invitation to attend committee meetings. Minutes 
of the committees are provided to all Directors in the Board papers for the 
next meeting of the Board and proceedings of each meeting are reported 
by the Chair of the committee at the subsequent Board meeting. 

Details of the membership, composition and responsibilities 
of each committee are detailed below.

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
The role of the Audit and Finance Committee is to assist the Board 
to manage the business, financial and strategic risks, to verify the 
integrity of the Company’s statutory and financial reporting, monitor 
the effectiveness of external and internal audit, the appropriateness of 
the internal controls and compliance, the appropriateness of financial 
risk systems and compliance, the application of corporate governance 
principals and the tax affairs of the Company, and to provide corporate 
governance oversight to the Finance Department’s functions� 

KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN BY THE AUDIT 
AND FINANCE COMMITTEE INCLUDE:

 —  to oversee the Company’s business, financial and 
strategic risk management program;

 —  review operating and capital budgets of the Company prior to 
submission to the Board for approval to ensure that the expenditure 
proposed is justified, sufficient to support sustainable safety, 
environment and energy efficiency initiatives, and maintenance and 
capital projects, and all within the Company’s ability to fund these;

 —  monitor the overall financial position of the Company in 
particular the ongoing cash and net debt position;

 —  monitor the risk of exposure to lending rates and 
interest rate hedging policies and requirements;

 —  monitor the pricing projections of Queensland Commodity 
Services and the impact on the Company’s financial 
reports from the activities of any subsidiaries;

 —  monitor compliance with facility agreements, 
Board policies and mandates;

 —  make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment or replacement of the external auditor;

 —  monitor the effectiveness and independence of the external auditor;
 —  review and approve the Company’s accounting policies 

and practices and monitor compliance with accounting 
standards that relate to the preparation of the accounts;

 —  review and recommend for approval by the Board the 
half yearly and annual reports and Directors’ report, and 
all other related reports which are required by any law, 
accounting standard or other regulatory body;

 —  oversee the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls;
 —  review and approve the Company’s business continuity plans, with 

specific reference to IT and other essential business systems;
 —  assist the Board in the identification and oversight of financial risk;
 —  monitor and review the effectiveness of the financial risk and 

internal control systems implemented by management;
 —  consider the processes applied by management to 

comply with the Board approved policies for liquidity 
risk, funding risk, credit risk and interest rate risk�

 —  ensure management has appropriate controls in 
place for any transactions that may carry more 
than the usual degree of financial risk;

 —  ensure that the processes for disclosure and regular 
reporting of significant financial risk is implemented�

REMUNERATION AND 
NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
The role of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee is to 
ensure that the Company has fair and responsible remuneration 
policies and practices to attract and retain Directors, Executives 
and staff who will create value to shareholders, and to review 
Board composition, performance and succession planning�

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:
 —  review the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the Company’s 

remuneration policy with reference to market comparisons;
 —  approve any major changes in employee benefits structures 

throughout the Company including superannuation, 
insurance, indemnities and other benefits;
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 —  approve the design of any performance related pay 
schemes operated by Mackay Sugar Limited and approve 
the total annual payments made under such schemes;

 —  determine Key Performance Indicators for the Chief 
Executive before the start of the Company’s financial year, 
against which his/her performance will be assessed;

 —  determine the total individual remuneration package (including 
bonuses and incentive payments) and termination arrangements 
of the company’s Chief Executive Officer and recommend to the 
Board for approval any changes prior to implementation;

 —  review the Board structure, size and composition 
and make any recommendations to the Board with 
regard to any changes deemed necessary;

 —  provide, via the Company Secretary, a tri-annual 
performance evaluation of the members of the Board;

 —  evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience 
of the Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a 
description of the role and capabilities required by the Board;

 —  recommend to the Board the appointment of Non-
Grower Directors and the Chief Executive Officer;

 —  approve, following the recommendation of the Chief 
Executive Officer, the appointment of the Chief 
Financial Officer and the Company Secretary;

 —  consider succession issues relating to the Chairman, 
Non-Grower Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary�

 —  propose to the Board the framework and quantum of remuneration for 
the Chairman of the Board, Deputy Chairman, Grower and Non-Grower 
Directors that provides appropriate, responsible and fair reward for 
their individual contributions to the success of Mackay Sugar Limited�

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
The role of the Compliance Committee is to assist the Board 
in fulfilling its governance and oversight responsibilities for 
Occupational Health and Safety and Environmental Management�

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE 
ARE TO HAVE OVERSIGHT AND REVIEW OF:

 —  the Company’s compliance with approved Health and Safety 
and Environmental policies and legislation and the impact 
of changes in Workplace Health and Safety legislation;

 —  the adequacy of the Occupational Health and Safety 
and Environmental Management systems in complying 
with statutory and regulatory obligations;

 —  the effectiveness of the Company’s Occupational 
Health and Safety systems in working towards the 
Company’s safety and environmental objectives;

 —  key health, safety and environmental incidents and 
mitigation strategies that may have strategic business 
and reputational implications for the Company�

MILLING OPERATIONS STRATEGY COMMITTEE
The role of the Milling Operations Strategy Committee is 
to provide oversight to the milling operations staff�

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE ARE TO:
 —  review and report to the Board regarding operational 

strategy development and implementation quarterly� 
 —  provide oversight to the Milling Operations staff’s execution 

of the Mackay Sugar operational strategy� 
 —  recommend to the Board an annual capital plan to achieve the 

operational strategy in place for the Company� 
 —  review and make recommendations to the Board in 

relation to milling operations, and rail infrastructure, rolling 
stock and the cogeneration plant as appropriate� 

CANE SUPPLY STRATEGY COMMITTEE
The role of the Cane Supply Strategy Committee is to provide oversight 
to the Cane Supply staff in the development and execution of policies 
to adhere to the Cane Supply and Processing Agreement, and to 
provide oversight of the cane expansion activities for the Company�

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:
 —  review and make recommendations to the Board and to 

provide oversight to the Cane Supply staff’s execution 
of the Mackay Sugar Harvest Grouping Policy;

 —  attend harvest Management Committee meetings as 
appropriate to participate in policy discussions;

 —  recommend to the Board an annual capital budget amount for 
approval of siding works by the Cane Supply Strategy Committee;

 —  monitor capital expenditure within the Cane Supply 
Strategy Committee’s budget for approved works for siding 
upgrades, alterations, rationalisation or extensions�

 —  approve the recommendations of Cane Supply staff for requests 
received in writing from growers and harvesting contractors 
regarding siding upgrades, alterations or extensions�

 —  approve the recommendations of Cane Supply staff for 
requests received in writing from growers and harvesting 
contractors regarding alterations to points of delivery and 
or delivery arrangements e�g� rail or road transport;

 —  review and make recommendations to the Board in relation 
to cane delivery and siding matters as appropriate;

 —  review the documentation for removal of points of delivery to 
comply with the Cane Supply and Processing Agreement�
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Directors’ 
Report

For the Year Ended  
31 May 2017

The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, 
on the economic entity (referred to hereafter as the ‘Group’) consisting of 
Mackay Sugar Limited (referred to hereafter as the ‘Company’ or ‘parent 
entity’) and the entities it controlled for the year-ended 31 May 2017.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
in the presentation of this report and the associated financial statements.

Board of Directors
The Directors who were in office from 1 June 2016 
to the date of this report are as follows:

Andrew S Cappello – Chairman

Paul A Manning – Deputy Chairman

Lee M Blackburn

Lawrence G Bugeja

Maurie C Maughan

Mark R Day  
(from 15 May 2017)

Richard M Findlay  
(from 21 April 2017)

Jeffrey P Grech  
(from 17 July 2017)

Sydney Gordon  
(to 23 May 2017)

Mark J Sage  
(to 31 December 2016)

The profiles of the above Directors can be found on pages 
27 – 29� A record of Board Meeting attendance during 
the year under review is set out on page 40�

Changes to the Board
M. J. Sage – Non-Grower Director

Mark resigned on 31 December 2016 from the Board 
of Mackay Sugar Limited and became an independent 
Director of Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd�

R. M. Findlay – Non Grower Director

Richard was appointed to the Board as a  
Non-Grower Director on 21 April 2017�

M. R. Day – Non Grower Director

Mark was appointed to the Board as a  
Non-Grower Director on 15 May 2017�

S. Gordon – Grower Director

Syd resigned on 23 May 2017 after fourteen years’ 
service on the Board of Mackay Sugar Limited�

J. P. Grech – Grower Director

Jeffrey was elected to the Board as a Grower Director on 17 July 2017�

COMPANY SECRETARY
Donna M Rasmussen – Company Secretary

Company Secretary since August 1 2006, Donna has worked 
for Mackay Sugar Limited and its predecessor co-operatives 
for more than 35 years in senior administrative positions�
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BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE 2016 – 2017
Attendances by each Director at Directors’ meetings and Board committee meetings were as follows:

Director Regular Meetings Special Meetings

A� S� Cappello 11 8

L� M� Blackburn 11 8

L� G� Bugeja 11 8

M� R� Day 1 1

R� M� Findlay 2 1

S� Gordon 9 8

P� A� Manning 11 8

M� C� Maughan 11 8

M� J� Sage 6 2 

DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Audit and 
Finance

Remuneration 
and Nominations

Compliance Milling 
Operations 

Strategy

Cane Supply 
Strategy

A� S� Cappello 10 6 1

L� M� Blackburn 3 6 2

L� G� Bugeja 3 6 2

M� R� Day

R� M� Findlay

S� Gordon

P� A� Manning 10 3 6 1

M� C� Maughan 9 3

M� J� Sage
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Principal activities of the Group are:

 — to acquire, transport and process sugar cane to produce raw 
sugar products and by-products and to transport, store, market, 
price and distribute those products and by-products; 

 — to manufacture, transport, store, market and distribute 
refined sugar, syrups, raw sugar for human consumption 
and similar products and by-products; and 

 — to produce, market and distribute electricity and other value-
added commodities through the use of products and by-
products arising from the activities in (a) and/or (b) above�

There was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s 
principal activities during the financial period�

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Information on the operational performance of the Group 
for the year ending 31 May 2017 is discussed in the 
Business section (pages 10 – 17) of this report�

OPERATING RESULTS
Operating results for the period ending 31 May 2017 
are set out in The year in Review (page 1) and the 
Financials section (pages 38 – 69) of this report�

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
The Company has a comprehensive Health, Safety and Environment 
Policy and is committed to continuous improvement in this area� 

The Company is subject to a range of environmental legislation 
in Australia� Through its Environmental Policy, the Company plans 
and performs activities so that adverse effects on the environment 
are avoided or kept as low as reasonably practicable�

Information on the Company’s compliance with environmental legislation 
is contained in the Environment section (pages 18 – 19) of this report�

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES
The Company’s recruitment and induction policies are continually 
reviewed to ensure compliance with governing legislation in the 
area of equal employment opportunity� The Company continues 
to achieve compliance with the requirements of the Equal 
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency (EOWA)� 

Information on the Company’s compliance with equal 
employment opportunity legislation is detailed in the 
People section (pages 20 – 21) of this report�

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED
No dividends were paid or declared for payment during the financial year�

REMUNERATION REPORT
The “Corporations Legislation Amendment (Deregulatory and Other 
Measures) Act 2016”, enacted on 19 March 2016, amended the 
Corporations Act 2001 to exclude “unlisted disclosing entities” from 
being required to prepare a remuneration report� As the Company is 
classified as an unlisted disclosing entity under the Corporations Act 
2001, a remuneration report has not been included in the Directors’ 
report� Under the accounting standards, the Company is required 
to disclose summarised remuneration information in relation to the 
Directors and certain executives in the notes to the accounts� This 
information has been included in the concise financial report included in 
this report (Refer note 4: Key management personnel compensation)�

OPTIONS
No options over issued shares or interests in the Company were 
granted during the financial year or since the end of the financial year 
and there were no options outstanding at the date of this report�

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
During the year, following an extensive review process with the 
Company’s appointed advisors Kidder Williams, the Company 
decided to implement a $2 per tonne grower contribution from 
the commencement of the 2017 crushing season� A number 
of other measures were also implemented, in particular, the 
decision to seek to raise capital from certain asset sales�

The $2 per tonne grower contribution commenced from the start 
of the 2017 crushing season and, for the significant majority of 
growers, is, by agreement, being treated as a deferred cane 
payment, which is subject to a review process after two years� For 
those other growers who’s bargaining representatives did not agree 
to the deferred cane payment, the $2 grower contribution is being 
deducted as an expense under the provisions of the Cane Supply 
and Processing Agreement� Both the deferred cane payment and the 
expenses deduction are subject to legal action by a minority of the 
Company’s growers, which is pending at the time of this report�
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In relation to potential asset sales, Kidder Williams has commenced 
a ‘non-binding expressions of interest’ process for the cogeneration 
assets� The Board will be examining these expressions of interest 
and, providing various conditions are satisfied, the sale will 
only be considered if it is in the best interests of the Company 
and shareholders� An ‘expression of interest’ process for the 
Mossman milling assets is also currently in progress�

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs 
of the Company, other than those advised in other sections 
of this report, or in the accounts or in the notes thereto�

GOING CONCERN
The current economic environment is challenging for the Group� The 
Directors consider the raw sugar market to be at the bottom of the 
price cycle and therefore the short term outlook presents challenges 
in terms of operating results and the generation of sufficient cash 
flow to improve milling performance from the current levels� 

As explained in the ‘Significant changes in state of affairs’ section 
above, the Directors have sought to raise additional capital and 
they continue to investigate other options to improve the Group’s 
performance and financial position, but at this stage there is 
no certainty that any particular transaction will proceed�

It has been noted in the financial report that the Group’s long term 
funding facilities are due to expire within the next twelve months and 
renewal of these facilities has not yet been secured� The Group has 
commenced initial discussions with its financiers towards renewal 
however traditionally the bulk of these discussions are held closer to 
the time of renewal� Discussions held with financiers to date have not 
raised any concerns to suggest that renewal of these facilities or some 
form of debt restructure would not be available on acceptable terms�

After considering the issues and uncertainties described above 
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
options and adequate resources to continue operations into the 
foreseeable future� For these reasons they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis for preparing these financial reports�

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD END DATE 
In the opinion of Directors, no matter or circumstance has arisen in 
the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of 
this report, which significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or 
the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years�

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Board continues to explore ideas and projects to advance the 
Company’s core business through improvements in milling rate, recovery 
and reliability� Likely developments in the operations of the Company 
and the expected results of those operations in future financial years 
have not been included in this report, as until any such project becomes 
a firm commercial proposal, untimely and early disclosure of such 
information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company� 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings� The 
Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period�

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS
The Company has paid premiums to insure Directors and 
Officers against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by 
them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their 
conduct while acting for the Company, other than conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company�

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company has applied the relief available to it under Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Instrument 2016/191 and 
accordingly, amounts in this report and associated financial statements 
have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars where appropriate�

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under 
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 43�

This report of the Directors is signed in accordance 
with a resolution of the Board of Directors�

AS Cappello 
Director – Chairman

PA Manning 
Director – Deputy Chairman

Dated: 24 August 2017
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Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration

UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
To the Directors of Mackay Sugar Limited:

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief,  
during the year-ended 31 May 2017, there have been:

1� No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements  
as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

2� No contraventions of any applicable code of professional  
conduct in relation to the audit�

BENNETT PARTNERS 
Chartered Accountants

Dated: 25 August 2017

At:  First Floor 
122 Wood Street 
MACKAY Qld 4740

DARRYL CAMILLERI 
Partner
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Information on the 
concise financial report

The concise financial report is an extract from the full 
financial report for the year ended 31 May 2017. The financial 
statements, disclosures and other information included 
in the concise financial report have been derived from, 
and are consistent with the corresponding full financial 
report of Mackay Sugar Limited and controlled entities.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide 
as full an understanding of the financial performance, 
financial position and financing and investing activities 
of the entity as the full financial report. A copy of the 
full financial report and auditor’s report will be sent 
to any shareholder, free of charge, upon request.

A discussion and analysis of the financial statements has 
been included in the “Financial Snapshot” in the Annual 
report. This has been provided to assist shareholders in 
understanding the concise financial report. The information 
contained in this discussion and analysis has been 
derived from Mackay Sugar’s full 2017 financial report.

FINANCIALS

Mackay Sugar Annual Report 201744



Consolidated statement of 
profit or loss
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

Consolidated Group

Note May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Revenue from operating activities

Revenue  2(a) 498,833 432,904

Finance revenue 2(b) 328 554

Total revenue 499,161 433,458

Changes in inventories of finished goods (227) (473)

Cost of sales (281,087) (232,333)

Gross profit 217,847 200,652

Revenue from non-operating activities 2 (c) 9 81

Maintenance expenses (48,383) (45,847)

Operating expenses (90,797) (80,846)

Administration expenses (44,456) (44,229)

Distribution and marketing expenses (6,539) (6,353)

Depreciation (16,986) (16,406)

Finance costs (13,342) (15,475)

Other expenses (4,066) (2,740)

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV 9 (34,607) –

Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment – (3,933)

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment – (21,492)

Share of profits of associate and joint venture 7,906 10,525

Profit/(loss) before income tax (33,414) (26,063)

Income tax expense 8 – –

Profit/(loss) for the year (33,414) (26,063)

Profit attributable to:

Members of the Company (33,414) (26,063)

Non-controlling interests – –

Profit for the year (33,414) (26,063)

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report
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Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

Consolidated Group

Note May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year (33,414) (26,063)

Other comprehensive income or loss

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 9 – –

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Gain on remeasurement of financial assets 347 5,760

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges 29,247 (27,641)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign associated company 396 1,055

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associated company (1,215) 312

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of the joint venture (1,425) 1,200

27,350 (19,314)

Income tax expense relating to components of other comprehensive income/(loss) 8 – –

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 27,350 (19,314)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (6,064) (45,377)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Members of the Company (6,064) (45,377)

Non-controlling interests – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (6,064) (45,377)

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report.
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Consolidated statement of 
financial position
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 MAY 2017

Consolidated Group

Note May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,264 32,438
Trade and other receivables 33,091 27,970
Other financial assets 11,973 483
Inventories 14,687 14,543
Assets held-for-sale 66 40
Other assets 865 176
Total current assets 78,946 75,650
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 1,051 1,660
Other financial assets 32,406 29,585
Investments accounted for using the equity method 94,637 133,831
Property, plant and equipment 312,268 310,603
Investment properties 3,101 2,202
Total non-current assets 443,463 477,881
Total assets 522,409 553,531

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 62,782 34,047
Interest bearing liabilities 174,680 58,504
Other liabilities 897 773
Other financial liabilities 4,903 12,594
Employee benefits 4,923 4,858
Total current liabilities 248,185 110,776
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 4,355 159,340
Other liabilities 18,239 19,002
Other financial liabilities 26,932 33,051
Employee benefits 8,419 9,019
Total non-current liabilities 57,945 220,412
Total liabilities 306,130 331,188
Net assets 216,279 222,343

Equity
Issued capital 16,498 16,498
Reserves 22,713 (4,637)
Retained profit 177,068 210,482
Total equity 216,279 222,343

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report
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Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

Consolidated Group Note Ordinary Share 
Capital

Retained Profit Financial Assets 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Hedging Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 June 2015 16,498 236,545 – – 2,281 12,396 267,720

Dividends 3 – – – – – – –

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – – – – – – –

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company – (26,063) – – – – (26,063)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Remeasurement of financial assets – – 5,760 – – – 5,760

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company – – – – 1,055 – 1,055

Cash flow hedges: gains allocated to equity – – – – – (27,641) (27,641)

Share of associated company’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – 312 312

Share of joint venture’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – 1,200 1,200

Total comprehensive income for the year – (26,063) 5,760 – 1,055 (26,129) (45,377)

Balance at 31 May 2016 16,498 210,482 5,760 – 3,336 (13,733) 222,343

Dividends 3 – – – – – – –

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – – – – – – –

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company – (33,414) – – – – (33,414)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Remeasurement of financial assets – – 347 – – – 347

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company – – – – 396 – 396

Cash flow hedges: gains allocated to equity – – – – – 29,247 29,247

Share of associated company’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – (1,215) (1,215)

Share of joint venture’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – (1,425) (1,425)

Total comprehensive income for the year – (33,414) 347 – 396 26,607 (6,064)

Balance at 31 May 2017 16,498 177,068 6,107 – 3,732 12,874 216,279

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report.
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Consolidated Group Note Ordinary Share 
Capital

Retained Profit Financial Assets 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Hedging Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 June 2015 16,498 236,545 – – 2,281 12,396 267,720

Dividends 3 – – – – – – –

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – – – – – – –

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company – (26,063) – – – – (26,063)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Remeasurement of financial assets – – 5,760 – – – 5,760

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company – – – – 1,055 – 1,055

Cash flow hedges: gains allocated to equity – – – – – (27,641) (27,641)

Share of associated company’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – 312 312

Share of joint venture’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – 1,200 1,200

Total comprehensive income for the year – (26,063) 5,760 – 1,055 (26,129) (45,377)

Balance at 31 May 2016 16,498 210,482 5,760 – 3,336 (13,733) 222,343

Dividends 3 – – – – – – –

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – – – – – – –

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company – (33,414) – – – – (33,414)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Remeasurement of financial assets – – 347 – – – 347

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company – – – – 396 – 396

Cash flow hedges: gains allocated to equity – – – – – 29,247 29,247

Share of associated company’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – (1,215) (1,215)

Share of joint venture’s hedging reserve movements – – – – – (1,425) (1,425)

Total comprehensive income for the year – (33,414) 347 – 396 26,607 (6,064)

Balance at 31 May 2017 16,498 177,068 6,107 – 3,732 12,874 216,279

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report.
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Consolidated statement of 
cash flow
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

Consolidated Group

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Receipts from sugar sales and other sales 541,119 457,468

Payments to cane suppliers (295,111) (281,330)

Payments to other suppliers and employees (201,481) (189,147)

Distributions received from associated entities 6,696 6,684

Interest received 328 554

Other revenue 4,497 9,510

Finance costs (12,404) (14,653)

Net cash provided by operating activities 43,644 (10,914)

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of financial assets – shares – (685)

Distributions received / (contributions made) to associated entities 3,554 (8,066)

Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment (22,760) (28,577)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 9 176

Net cash used in investing activities (19,197) (37,152)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from STL share subscription – 26,500

Proceeds from interest bearing activities 62,470 104,417

Repayment of interest bearing activities (92,527) (76,643)

Lease liability payments (294) (294)

(Increase)/decrease in growers’ loans 839 (821)

Decrease in interest bearing deposits (145) (94)

Decrease in selected-term unsecured notes (8,964) (2,661)

Net cash provided by financing activities (38,621) 50,404

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (14,174) 2,338

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 32,438 30,100

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18,264 32,438

The accompanying notes form part of this concise financial report.
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NOTE 1: BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
THE CONCISE FINANCIAL REPORT
This financial report covers the economic entity of Mackay 
Sugar Limited and its controlled entities (referred to as the 
‘Group’)� The economic entity is an unlisted public Company, 
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia�

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial 
report for the year ended 31 May 2017� The concise financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 
1039: Concise Financial Reports and the Corporations Act 2001�

These concise financial statements are consolidated concise 
financial statements required to be prepared by Mackay Sugar due 
to the operations of two controlled entities during the year�

The financial statements, specific disclosures and other 
information included in the concise financial report are derived 
from and are consistent with the full financial report of Mackay 
Sugar� The concise financial report cannot be expected 
to provide as detailed an understanding of the financial 
performance, financial position and financing and investing 
activities of Mackay Sugar as the full financial report�

The financial report of Mackay Sugar complies with all 
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) in their entirety� The presentation currency 
used in this concise financial report is Australian dollars�

The Company has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Instrument 
2016/191 and accordingly, amounts in this concise financial report have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated�

Changes in accounting standards
There were no changes in the accounting standards during 
the year that had a significant effect on the preparation 
and presentation of the full financial report�

Changes in accounting policies
There were no changes in the accounting policies of the 
Group during the year that had a significant effect on the 
preparation and presentation of the full financial report�

The financial report was authorised for issue on 
24 August 2017 by the Board of Directors� 

Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 2: REVENUE

Note May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

(a) Revenue from operating activities

Sale of goods 486,335 416,247

Services revenue 378 447

Dividends received – other corporations 2,062 2,029

Government subsidies received 2(d) 860 829

Rental revenue 487 378

Financial trading gains – –

Insurance claims 8,651 12,868

Recoveries 6 6

Other revenue 54 100

498,833 432,904

(b) Finance revenue

Bank interest received – other corporations 321 538

Loan interest received – other persons 7 16

328 554

(c) Revenue from non-operating activities

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 81

Gain on disposal of assets held-for-sale – –

9 81

(d) Government subsidies

Government subsidies received or receivable:

– Government subsidies received in relation to capital projects – –

– Government subsidies received allocated directly to income 98 67

98 67

Government subsidies received included in income:

– Government subsidies received allocated directly to income 98 67

– Deferred government subsidies allocated to income 762 762

860 829

Various government grants have been received for capital related projects. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to existing grants as at 31 May 2017.
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 3: DIVIDENDS AND FRANKING ACCOUNT

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

(i)  Dividends declared during the year:

 Nil – –

(ii) Dividends paid during the year:

 Nil – –

(iii) Dividends declared but not paid at year-end:

 Nil – –

(iv) Balance of the franking account at the end of the year 5,189 5,189

  The franking account will be reduced subsequent to the year-end as a 
result of the fully franked dividend declared per (iii) above

 
–

 
–

5,189 5,189
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 4: KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

(a) Details of key management personnel
Directors and executives who have held office 
during the financial year were:

Directors

A�S� Cappello Chairman (non-executive)

P�A� Manning Deputy Chairman (non-executive)

L�M� Blackburn Director (non-executive)

L�G� Bugeja Director (non-executive)

M� Day Director (non-executive) 
(Commenced 15th May 2017)

R� Findlay Director (non-executive) 
(Commenced 21st April 2017)

S� Gordon Director (non-executive) 
(Resigned 23rd May 2017)

M�C� Maughan Director (non-executive)

M� Sage Director MSL (non-executive) 
(Resigned 31st December 2016)

Independent Director QCS (non-executive)
(Commenced 1st January 2017)

Executives

J� Lowry Chief Executive Officer

P�J� Gill Chief Financial Officer 
(For the period 1st June 2016 
to 15th January 2017)

General Manager – Commercial and Legal 
(For the period 16th January 
2017 to 31st May 2017)

T� Doolan General Manager – Milling Operations

C� Bentley General Manager – Cane Supply & Logistics

H� Slattery General Manager – Mossman Mill

D�J� Said Chief Financial Officer 
(For the period 16th January 2017 
to 31st May 2017)
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NOTE 4: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION CONTINUED

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The aggregate compensation for key management personnel during the financial year was as follows:

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Short-term benefits

 Salary and fees 2,035 2,125

 Bonuses – –

 Non-cash benefits 29 27

 Other 194 158

 Termination – 287

Post-employment benefits 222 247

Other long-term benefits 74 (109)

Total benefits and payments 2,554 2,735

(c) Key management personnel options and rights holdings
Key management personnel are not entitled to any options or rights holdings� There were no transactions in options 
and rights and no holdings of options or rights by any key management personnel during the financial year�

(d) Key management personnel shareholdings
The number of shares in Mackay Sugar held by key management personnel or 
their related parties during the financial year was as follows:

Investment Shares Balance at
the Beginning

of the Year

Changes During 
the Year

Balance at the End 
of the Year

A�S� Cappello 480,119 – 480,119

L�M� Blackburn 179,787 – 179,787

L�G� Bugeja 347,924 – 347,924

S� Gordon 463,436 – 463,436

P�A� Manning 100,000 – 100,000

D�J� Said 41,282 – 41,282

1,612,548 – 1,612,548

The shares are not issued as a result of any remuneration or option benefits� The above key 
management personnel (personally or through associated entities) also hold one voting share for 
each eligible farming enterprise which entitles them to vote on any shareholders’ poll�

(e) Other key management personnel transactions
There have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the tables 
above� There have been no loans provided to key management personnel and therefore no transactions 
or balances exist in relation to loans to key management personnel during the financial year�

Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 5: EVENTS AFTER THE END 
OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Derivative financial positions
Since the end of the financial year, movements in the ICE No�11 Raw 
Sugar Futures prices and exchange rates have resulted in variances 
to the “mark-to-market” values reported in the financial statements�

As the Group has entered into sugar futures and options contracts, foreign 
exchange contracts, foreign currency options, and commodity swap 
transactions, unrealised gains or losses on these derivatives fluctuate over 
time in line with changes to futures prices and foreign exchange rates�

As at 31 May 2017, the financial accounts reported a net unrealised 
gain on sugar pricing derivatives of $10�0 million� However, as at 
23 August 2017, in anticipation of the Board meeting, this amount 
would be calculated to be an unrealised gain of $29�7 million, 
based on the quoted rates of the day for derivatives that are still 
outstanding and realised prices for derivatives that have been settled 
subsequent to year end� The majority of the change is due to a $65-
$75 fall in the Australian Dollar sugar curve since 31 May 2017�

The nature of a hedging relationship means that the above 
movement in mark-to-market values is offset when the raw 
sugar sales related to these transactions are realised�

Other matters
No other matters or circumstance has arisen in the interval 
between the end of the financial period and the date of this report, 
which has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years�
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 6: INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Information about Principal Subsidiaries
Set out below are the parent Company’s subsidiaries at 31 May 2017� The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting 
solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Company and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the 
voting rights held by the Company� Each subsidiary’s country of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business�

Name of Subsidiary Principal Place  
of Business

Ownership Interest 
Held by the Company

Proportion of 
Non-controlling Interests

At 31 May 2017 At 31 May 2016 At 31 May 2017 At 31 May 2016

Queensland Commodity 
Services Pty Ltd

Mackay, Australia 100% 100% – –

Mackay Commodity Services Pty Ltd Mackay, Australia 100% 100% – –

Mackay Commodity Trading Pty Ltd Mackay, Australia 100% 100% – –

The following subsidiaries were established and commenced operations as follows:

Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd
 — Established on 28 March 2013 by the parent Company�
 — Commenced operations on 31 July 2013�

Mackay Commodity Services Pty Ltd
 — Established on 2 April 2013 by the parent Company�
 — Commenced operations on 13 August 2013�

Mackay Commodity Trading Pty Ltd
 — Established on 28 May 2015 by the parent Company�
 — Has not commenced operations and was inactive during the year ended 31 May 2017�

There was no change in the ownership interests in any of the subsidiaries held by the Group during the year�
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Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) Basis for segmentation
The Group has the following four strategic divisions which 
have been determined by management to be its reportable 
segments� These divisions offer different products and 
services, and are managed separately because they require 
different technology, resources and marketing strategies�

The following summary describes the operations 
of each reportable segment:

Reportable Segments Operations

Raw Sugar Milling Manufacture of raw sugar from sugar 
cane, including by-products molasses 
and electricity, in Queensland, Australia

Refined Sugar Manufacture and distribution of 
refined sugar from raw sugar in 
Australia and New Zealand

Commodity Trading Marketing, pricing and trading of raw 
sugar and related financial products 

Other Investments Investment activities not related to the 
operations of the above segments 

The CEO of Mackay Sugar Limited has been determined to be the 
‘Chief Operating Decision Maker’ of the Group� The CEO reviews 
the internal management reports of each division on a regular 
basis and strategic decisions are made based on these reports�

There are varying levels of integration between the Raw Sugar Milling, 
Refined Sugar, and Commodity Trading segments� This integration 
includes the transfers of products and shared services as explained 
below� Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis�

(b) Information on inter-segment activities and aggregation of 
business units:
The segment amounts included in this note have been determined on the 
same basis as that reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker for the 
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance� 
The major business units included within each segment are as follows:

Raw Sugar Milling:
This segment derives revenues from the manufacture and distribution of 
raw sugar, molasses and electricity� Raw sugar sales are managed and 
undertaken through the Commodity Trading segment on behalf of this 
segment� The segment includes the operations of four raw sugar mills in 
Queensland, Australia (three Mills in Mackay and one Mill in Mossman)�

Refined Sugar:
This segment derives revenues from the manufacture, distribution 
and marketing of refined sugar and related products� The segment 
is made up of three separate entities – Sugar Australia joint venture, 
New Zealand Sugar Company Pty Ltd, and Oriana Shipping Co� Pte 
Ltd� The entities operate from different geographical regions, but 
have been combined into one segment as their activities have similar 
economic characteristics and they are generally monitored as a whole� 
The entities are accounted for in the financial statements as equity-
accounted investments as the Company has a 25% stake in each entity�
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NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

Commodity Trading:
This segment provides certain financial support services to the Group 
and third party customers� A significant portion of this segment’s activities 
involves the marketing and sale of raw sugar obtained from the Raw 
Sugar Milling segment� Enhanced pricing and hedging services are 
provided through the use of various sugar and exchange rate trading 
strategies on global markets� A significant portion of the raw sugar 
from the Mackay region is sold to a business unit within the Refined 
Sugar segment� These activities are undertaken through two entities – 
Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd and Mackay Commodity Services 
Pty Ltd� Both of these entities are subsidiaries of Mackay Sugar Limited�

Other Investments:
This segment includes a number of material investments whose activities 
have been considered to be unrelated to the above segments� These 
investments include Sugar Terminals Limited, Racecourse Projects Pty 
Ltd, Sugar North Limited, and M&M Molasses Pty Ltd� The segment also 
includes the operations of the Company’s investment properties� Revenue 
from this segment is obtained from dividends and rental income�

(c) Information about reportable segments
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below� Segment 
results are generally evaluated on a profit before interest, corporate 
expenses and tax basis� This is used to measure performance because 
management believes that this information is the most relevant in 
evaluating the results of the respective segments� The Group manages 
its net debt, net finance costs and income taxes on a Group basis and 
these measures are therefore not reported internally at a segment level� 
Accordingly, various amounts included in the Group’s financial statements 
have not been allocated between the segments as explained below�

Unallocated amounts
In relation to the segment information below, certain amounts from the 
Group’s financial statements have not been allocated on the basis that 
they relate to the Group as a whole and it would be difficult to allocate 
the amounts between the segments on a reasonable or justifiable 
basis� This includes some or all amounts in the following areas:

 — Finance revenue
 — Finance costs
 — Corporate expenses
 — Cash at Bank
 — Interest bearing liabilities
 — Other financial liabilities

Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017
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Reportable Segments

Year ended 31 May 2017 Raw Sugar 
Milling

Refined Sugar Commodity 
Trading

Other 
Investments

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

From external customers 64,060 194,580 190,148 2,567 451,355

Finance revenue from external customers – 99 51 – 150

Discontinued operations – – – – –

Inter-segment revenue 425,579 – 234,574 – 660,153

Total Segment revenue 489,639 194,679 424,773 2,567 1,111,658

Profit/(loss)

Segment profit/(loss) before tax 8,900 – (249) 2,236 10,887

Share of profit/(loss) of equity-
accounted investees

– (26,697) – (3) (26,701)

Total segment profit/(loss) before tax 8,900 (26,697) (249) 2,233 (15,814)

Other reportable items included in profit/
(loss)

Interest income – 99 51 – 150

Interest expense (502) (3) (394) – (899)

Depreciation and amortisation (16,954) (6,107) – (31) (23,092)

Income tax expense – (1,837) – – (1,837)

Other material non-cash items:

– Impairment losses on Sugar Australia JV – (34,607) – – (34,607)

–  Loss on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment

– – – – –

–  Impairment losses on property, 
plant and equipment

– – – – –

Segment assets

Derivatives 253 – 14,758 – 15,011

Trade & other receivables 20,792 – 13,350 – 34,142

Other assets 327,069 – 8,616 32,534 368,219

Equity accounted investees – 94,611 – 26 94,637

Total segment assets 348,114 94,611 36,724 32,560 512,009

Other reportable items included in assets

Capital expenditure 22,760 4,460 – – 27,220

Segment Liabilities

Derivatives 173 – 4,744 – 4,917

Trade & other payables 58,063 – 4,719 – 62,782

Other liabilities 38,531 – 207 – 38,738

Total segment liabilities 96,767 – 9,670 – 106,437

Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017
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Reportable Segments

Year ended 31 May 2016 Raw Sugar 
Milling

Refined Sugar Commodity 
Trading

Other 
Investments

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

From external customers 63,060 169,984 186,542 2,438 422,024

Finance revenue from external customers – 89 36 – 125

Discontinued operations – – – – –

Inter-segment revenue 361,115 – 173,186 – 534,301

Total Segment revenue 424,175 170,073 359,764 2,438 956,450

Profit/(loss)

Segment profit/(loss) before tax (19,743) – (642) 2,350 (18,035)

Share of profit/(loss) of equity-
accounted investees

– 10,528 – (3) 10,525

Total segment profit/(loss) before tax (19,743) 10,528 (642) 2,347 (7,510)

Other reportable items included in profit/
(loss)

Interest income – 89 36 – 125

Interest expense (600) (18) (340) – (958)

Depreciation and amortisation (16,394) (5,669) – (12) (22,075)

Income tax expense – (1,917) – – (1,917)

Other material non-cash items:

–  Loss on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment (21,492) – – – (21,492)

–  Impairment losses on non-financial assets – – – – –

–  Impairment losses on property, 
plant and equipment (3,933) – – – (3,933)

Segment assets

Derivatives – – 1,048 – 1,048

Trade & other receivables 16,791 – 12,839 – 29,630

Other assets 325,276 – 5,399 31,262 361,937

Equity accounted investees – 133,802 – 29 133,831

Total segment assets 342,067 133,802 19,286 31,291 526,446

Other reportable items included in assets

Capital expenditure 28,577 3,176 – – 31,753

Segment Liabilities

Derivatives 310 – 18,704 – 19,014

Trade & other payables 33,412 – 635 – 34,047

Other liabilities 53,958 – 11,183 – 65,141

Total segment liabilities 87,680 – 30,522 – 118,202

Notes to the concise 
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NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED
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NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

(d) Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to amounts reported in the financial statements

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Revenues

Total revenue for reportable segments 1,111,658 956,450

Revenue of equity-accounted investees (194,679) (170,073)

Unallocated amounts:

– Finance Revenue 277 518

Revenue for other segments – –

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (418,095) (353,437)

Elimination of discontinued operations – –

Consolidated revenue 499,161 433,458

Profit before tax

Total profit before tax for reportable segments (15,814) (7,510)

Profit before tax for other segments – –

Elimination of inter-segment profit (dividend) – –

Elimination of discontinued operation – –

Unallocated amounts:

– Corporate expenses (5,431) (4,536)

– Finance costs (12,446) (14,535)

– Finance revenue 277 518

Consolidated profit before tax from continuing operations (33,414) (26,063)

Notes to the concise 
financial report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2017

FINANCIALS

Mackay Sugar Annual Report 201762



NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments 512,009 526,446

Assets for other segments – –

Unallocated amounts:

– Cash and cash equivalents 10,400 27,085

Consolidated total assets 522,409 553,531

Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments 106,437 118,202

Liabilities for other segments – –

Unallocated amounts:

– Interest bearing liabilities 172,775 186,355

– Other financial liabilities 26,918 26,631

Consolidated total liabilities 306,130 331,188

Other material items

Year ended 31 May 2017 Reportable  
Segment Totals  

$’000

Adjustments
 

$’000

Consolidated Totals  
 

$’000

Interest income  150  178  328

Interest expense  (899)  (12,443)  (13,342)

Depreciation and amortisation  (23,092)  6,106  (16,986)

Income tax expense  (1,837)  1,837  –

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV  (34,607)  –  (34,607)

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  – – –

Impairment losses on non-financial assets  – – –

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment – – –

Capital expenditure  27,220  (4,460)  22,760

Notes to the concise 
financial report
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NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

Other material items

Year ended 31 May 2016 Reportable  
Segment Totals  

$’000

Adjustments
 

$’000

Consolidated Totals  
 

$’000

Interest income 125 429 554

Interest expense (958) (14,517) (15,475)

Depreciation and amortisation (22,075) 5,669 (16,406)

Income tax expense (1,917) 1,917 –

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (21,492) – (21,492)

Impairment losses on non-financial assets – – –

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (3,933) – (3,933)

Capital expenditure 31,753 (3,176) 28,577

(e) Revenue from external customers for each product and service
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers for each major product and service category is as follows:

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Raw sugar sales 190,155 187,811

Refined sugar sales 194,580 169,984

Electricity sales 19,843 17,905

Molasses sales 34,111 29,943

Financial trading gains – –

Sundry sales 483 100

Sundry services revenue 62 70

Rental revenue 487 378

Dividends received 2,062 2,029

Insurance proceeds 8,651 12,868

Other revenue 921 935

Finance revenue 150 126

Total revenue from external customers 451,505 422,149
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NOTE 7: SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

(f) Geographic information
The Raw Sugar Milling segment and Other Investments segment operate in Mackay and Mossman in Queensland, 
Australia, and obtain all revenue from within Australia� The Refined Sugar segment operates throughout Australia and 
New Zealand, with the majority of revenue coming from the country of operations� The Commodity Trading segment 
operates from Mackay, Queensland, Australia and obtains revenue from varying countries around the world on a yearly 
basis� The geographic information below analyses the Group’s revenue, profit before tax, and non-current assets by the 
company’s country of domicile and other countries� In presenting the following information, segment information has 
been based on the geographic location of the assets and operations in which the segment activities take place�

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Revenue from external customers

Australia 392,582 371,123

All foreign countries

– New Zealand 56,564 47,973

– Singapore 2,359 3,053

451,505 422,149

Profit before tax

Australia (20,630) (12,420)

All foreign countries

– New Zealand 4,690 4,778

– Singapore 126 132

(15,814) (7,510)

Non-current assets

Australia 406,408 441,348

All foreign countries

– New Zealand 32,744 32,238

– Singapore 4,311 4,295

443,462 477,881

(g) Major customer
Revenues from one external customer of the Group’s Raw Sugar Milling segment represented 
approximately $236,599,175 (2016: $173,577,739) of the Group’s total revenues�
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NOTE 8: TAXES

Unrecognised tax losses
The Group has accumulated tax losses for income tax purposes that are currently able to be carried 
forward to future years� The gross accumulated tax losses that have not been recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a deferred tax asset are as follows:

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Gross accumulated tax losses at the beginning of the year 107,784 88,873

Add: Over-provision in prior years – –

Add: Tax losses incurred during the year 6,882 18,911

Less: Tax losses utilised during the year – –

Available gross accumulated tax losses for income tax purposes at the end of the year 114,666 107,784

Less: Gross tax losses recognised as a deferred tax asset to offset deferred tax liability (1,236) (8,726)

Remaining unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 113,430 99,058
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NOTE 9: IMPAIRMENT OF EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

Sugar Australia Joint Venture – Impairment
The Sugar Australia Joint Venture investment was determined to be impaired as at 31 May 2017� 

The impairment was required due to an expected sustained reduction in profitability in the Joint Venture’s 
refined sugar operations due to increased competition and supply in the Australian refined sugar market�

The investment was written-down to its recoverable amount (fair value) on 31 May 2017 as follows:

Valuation Effective 31 May 2017

Carrying value based on equity method of accounting $92,163,997

Fair value based on DCF ‘Value-in-use’ valuation $57,556,997

Impairment Adjustment (Write-down) $34,607,000

The impairment has been determined by comparing the investment’s recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount as determined under the equity method of accounting� The recoverable 
amount has been based on a ‘Value in use’ discounted cash flow calculation of the Joint Venture’s operations�

No independent valuer was involved in the impairment or valuation calculations�

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts and impairment amounts of ‘Investments accounted 
for using the equity method’ during the financial year is as follows:

May 2017
$’000

May 2016
$’000

Carrying amount of Equity-accounted investments at period end prior to impairment 129,244 133,831

Losses recognised in profit or loss:

– Impairment of Sugar Australia joint venture (34,607) –

Losses recognised in other comprehensive income:

– Nil – –

Balance at the end of the year 94,637 133,831
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For the year ended  
31 May 2017
The Directors of Mackay Sugar Limited declare that the concise financial report of Mackay Sugar 
Limited and controlled entities for the financial year ended 31 May 2017, as set out on pages 38 – 67:

a complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039; Concise Financial Reports; and 
b is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 31 May 2017 and has been 

derived from and is consistent with the full financial report of Mackay Sugar Limited�

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors of Mackay Sugar Limited�

Directors’  
Declaration

PA Manning 
Director (Deputy Chairman)

AS Cappello 
Director (Chairman)

Dated: 24 August 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report





MACKAY SUGAR LIMITED
ABN 12 057 463 671

CORPORATE OFFICE
Peak Downs Highway
Racecourse via Mackay

PO Box 5720
Mackay Mail Centre
Queensland Australia 4741

P +61 7 4953 8300
F  +61 7 4953 8340
E  info@mkysugar�com�au

FARLEIGH MILL
Armstrong Street, Farleigh
Queensland Australia 4741

MARIAN MILL
Anzac Avenue, Marian
Queensland Australia 4753

PLEYSTOWE MILL
Eungella Road, Pleystowe
Queensland Australia 4741

RACECOURSE MILL
Peak Downs Highway
Racecourse via Mackay
Queensland Australia 4740

MOSSMAN MILL
Mill Street, Mossman
Queensland Australia 4873

QUEENSLAND COMMODITY  
SERVICES PTY LTD
Level 4, 370 Queen Street, Brisbane 
Queensland Australia 4000
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